DRIVER SEX DIFFERENCES IN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENTS

Thesis for the Degree of M. S. MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY HERBERT ERECH STOCKMAN 1973



HOAG & SONS' HOAG & SONS' SOX BINDERY INC. HORAPY BINDERS ,

DRIVER SEX DIFFERENCES IN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENTS

By

Herbert Erech Stockman

A THESIS

Submitted To Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Criminal Justice

ABSTRACT

DRIVER SEX DIFFERENCES IN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENTS

By

Herbert E. Stockman

It is estimated that by 1975 there will be 125 million licensed drivers and almost 120 million registered motor vehicles in the United States. Each of these vehicles will be driven an average of 11,000 miles per year. If present trends continue, this increase in vehicular travel will result in more highway accidents with annual accident costs for 1975 exceeding 11 billion dollars.

Although research of quality has been building up piece-by-piece now for almost a half century, we need to know a great deal more and do a great deal more before we can expect a significant reduction in traffic accidents.

The present study had as its focus a comparison of the characteristics of the automobile accidents of male and female drivers. The sample for this study consisted of all reports of motor vehicle traffic accidents contained in the Michigan State Police files which occured during the years 1966 and 1971 in Berrien County, Michigan. The data consisted of 1,909 single vehicle accidents and 4,250 multiple vehicle accidents for 1966, and 2,167 single vehicle accidents and 4,820 multiple vehicle accidents for 1971. The purpose of the study was to determine and explain driver sex differences on variables contained in the accident reports. The hypothesis adopted at the outset, in contradistinction to previous studies, was that all findings were potentially explainable in terms of hypothesized driving exposure differences between the sexes.

Many statistically significant differences were found for both single and multiple vehicle accidents. Most were explainable by exposure; there were exceptions, however. Females were found to be positively related to the presence of road defects and snow. In combination with other studies. these results indicate that females have more accidents in situations requiring a greater than usual amount of skill. The explanation for this finding was that females tend to drive less frequently under stressful conditions, and hence have less opportunity to learn appropriate responses. Male drivers on the other hand, were more likely to have consumed alcohol previous to the accident. They generally traveled faster and were more often ticketed for speeding violations. The explanation given to these results was in terms of cultural roles and driving confidence rather than in terms of differences between the sexes in driving abilities under the influence of alcohol or at high speeds. Based on the results of the study, practical suggestions regarding differential educational and training procedures for the two sexes were offered.

DRIVER SEX DIFFERENCES IN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENTS

By

Herbert Erech Stockman

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Criminal Justice

1973

APPROVED:

rman (Member) Alle (Member

GAODANY

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To all who knowingly or unknowingly assisted in the conception and realization of this thesis, I am heavily indebted.

In particular, special thanks is due my chairman, Doctor Robert C. Trojanowicz, and my committee members Doctor Victor G. Strecher, and Mister Adrian H. Koert.

And to those members of my family who watched my academic odyssey with apprehension . . . I thank you for your patience and confidence.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| CHAPTER | PAGE |
|---------|-------------------------------------|
| I. | INTRODUCTION 1 |
| | Importance of the Study 2 |
| | Review of the Literature 4 |
| | Accident Causation |
| | Exposure |
| | Driving Habits of the Two Sexes 25- |
| | Specific Predictions |
| II. | THE DATA |
| III. | METHOD OF ANALYSIS |
| IV. | THE RESULTS |
| | Time Variables |
| | Road Characteristics |
| | Location |
| | Collision Characteristics 60 |
| | Vehicle Characteristics 65 |
| | Driver Characteristics |
| | Driver Behavior |
| | Weather Variables |
| v. | DISCUSSION |
| | Time Variables |
| | Road Characteristics 103 |
| | Location 106 |

| | Collisi | on | Ch | ara | cte | eri | st | 1c | 8 | ٠ | • | ٠ | ٠ | • | • | ٠ | ٠ | 107 |
|--------------|------------|------|----|-----|------------|-----|-----|----|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|-----|
| | Vehicle | Ch | ar | act | er | ist | ic | 8 | • | • | ٠ | • | • | • | ٠ | ٠ | ٠ | 109 |
| | Driver | Cha | ra | cte | ri e | st1 | .cs | ; | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | ٠ | • | 110 |
| | Driver | Beł | av | ior | • | | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | 112 |
| | Weather | · Va | ri | abl | e 8 | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | ٠ | • | 115 |
| VI. CO | DNCLUSION | • | • | •• | ٠ | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | ٠ | ٠ | • | • | ٠ | 117 |
| BIBLI OGRAPH | ı y | • | • | •• | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | 121 |
| APPENDIX . | | • | • | • • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | 125 |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE | P | AGE |
|-------|--|-----|
| 1. | Chi Square Values and Significance Levels for Sex Crossed With All Other Variables | 43 |
| 2. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Light Condition | 46 |
| 3. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Light Condition Within Locations | 47 |
| 4. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Time of Day | 48 |
| 5. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Rush Hour (7-9 AM & 4-6 PM) and Other Daylight Hours (9 AM - 4 PM) | 50 |
| 6. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Day of the Week | 51 |
| 7. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Weekday - Weekend | 52 |
| 8. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Highway Classification | 53 |
| 9. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Road Geometry | 55 |
| 10. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Road Geometry Within Locations | 56 |
| 11. | The Percentage of Accidents For Each Sex Within Each Category of Road Geometry Within Light Conditions | 57 |
| 12. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Road Defect | 58 |
| 13. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Intersection | 59 |
| 14. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Intersection Within Locations | 61 |

TABLE

The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 15. 62 Each Category of Location The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 16. Each Category of Location Within Light 63 The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 17. 64 Each Category of Direction Analysis The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 18. Each Category of Direction Analysis Within 66 Locations The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 19. 67 Each Category of Vehicle Type . . The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 20. 69 The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 21. 70 Each Category of Age Within Locations The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 22. 71 Each Category of Age Within Light Conditions . The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 23. 72 Each Category of Experience The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 24. Each Category of Experience Within Locations . 73 The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 25. Each Category of Experience Within Light 74 Conditions The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 26. 75 Each Category of Age Within Experience The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 27. Each Category of Registration 76 The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 28. 77 Bach Category of Speed Violation 29. The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Speed Violation Within 79 Locations The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within 30. Each Category of Speed Violation Within Light 80 Conditions

PAGE

TABLE

| 31. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Right-of-way Violation | 81 |
|-----|--|-----|
| 32. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Right-of-way Violation Within Locations | 82 |
| 33. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Violation Other Than Speeding or Drinking | 84 |
| 34. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Alcohol | 85 |
| 35. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Alcohol Within Locations | 87 |
| 36. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Alcohol Within Light Conditions | 88 |
| 37. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Sleep | 89 |
| 38. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Speed | 90 |
| 39. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Speed Within Locations | 92 |
| 40. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Speed Within Light Conditions | 93 |
| 41. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Weather | 94 |
| 42. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Weather Within Locations | 95 |
| 43. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Weather Within Light Conditions | 97 |
| 44. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Surface Condition | 98 |
| 45. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Surface Condition Within Locations | 100 |
| 46. | The Percentage of Accidents for Each Sex Within Each Category of Surface Condition Within Light Conditions | 101 |

CHAPTER I

5

INTRODUCTION

The debate between the sexes concerning the superiority of each in driving an automobile has dominated many an evening's parlor discussion. Males are quick to point out the shortcomings of "women drivers", while females are equally quick to counter with harsh criticisms of "impatient men". Automotive insurance companies tend to side with the fairer of the sexes, a fact few women overlook in creating a convincing argument. This is true for even young drivers. There was a time when all drivers under 25 were charged higher rates for insurance premiums; however, insurance companies found the risk to be greater for only young male drivers, and, hence, young female drivers were relieved of at least part of the greater assessment. It is only fair to note, however, that insurance companies are only interested in gross number of accidents and other causes of claims. The well-recognized fact that men on an average drive more and probably during periods of higher potential risk is irrelevant to their purposes. Men, incidentally, are far from unaware of these facts in forming a rebuttal of the feminine interpretation.

The reason that this disagreement has been able to sustain discussion for so long is because there is indeed no clear cut answer. Possibly in some situations the average man is a better driver than his wife, while in other situations she might prove superior. A blanket statement that one sex is superior to the other is bound to be an oversimplification.

The present study has as its focus a comparison of the characteristics of the automobile accidents of male and female drivers. The specific purpose of the study is to discover and try to explain statistically significant differences between the sexes on variables which are recorded in accident reports. Included in these variables of interest are time and location variables, road, collision, vehicle and driver characteristics, driver behaviors, and weather.

Importance of the Study

There are, of course, more important reasons for conducting this study than merely ascertaining which sex is the better driver. The great number of accidents which are taking place on our highways constitutes a major problem and the integration of motor vehicles into our way of life has become very costly in terms of fatalities, injuries, and damaged equipment. As miles traveled, passengers carried, and tons conveyed have increased, traffic has become more dense. Also speed levels have risen, and there has been an increase in deaths, injuries and monetary costs.

In fact, highway safety has become a matter of pressing national concern.

According to a public opinion survey conducted by the Michigan State University Highway Traffic Safety Center, Michigan citizens feel that orime and traffic safety are the most important problems facing the state.¹ The sheer magnitude of losses from highway accidents demands systematic, carefully planned research studies. Although research of quality has been building up piece-by-piece now for almost a half century, we need to know a great deal more and do a great deal more before we can expect a significant reduction in traffic injuries and deaths.

In the state of Michigan alone, a total of 314,015 reported motor vehicle traffic accidents and 2,152 highway fatalities were recorded by the State Police during 1971. This was the eighth consecutive year and the eleventh time in thirty-four years of record keeping that Michigan traffic deaths have exceeded 2,000 annually.² This certainly leaves no room for complacency nor does it indicate that we are making much progress in the overall struggle for safer highways.

¹"MSU Conducts Two Surveys," <u>Traffic Safety</u>, (May, 1966, p. 25.

²Michigan Department of State Police, <u>Michigan</u> <u>Traffic Accident Facts: 1971</u>, (Lansing, Michigan, 1972), p. 1.

If accidents are to be related to highway, vehicle, and human factors in a meaningful fashion it is essential that the relative exposure of people to accidents be measured. One method of accomplishing this is to compare the characteristics of the automobile accidents of male and female drivers.

Looking at accidents is a negative approach to the study of drivers to be sure, but it is not an invalid approach. There is no other time in the driving history of an individual when so much data is collected on a small segment of driving. Nor is any aspect of driving as disruptive, harmful, and in need of reduction as accidents. Any insight gained concerning the general etiology of automobile accidents would seem to be worthwhile.

Review of the Literature

In one of the first studies which addressed itself to the question of sex differences in automobile accidents, M. S. Viteles and H. M. Gardner used District of Columbia taxicab drivers as their subjects. In a sample of approximately 200 men and from 35 to 40 women they found female drivers to be involved in 3.49 times as many accidents per 1,000 miles than male drivers. When considering only serious accidents they found that women were involved in fewer accidents than men but the women caused more accidents on the part of other drivers through the driving tactics they

employed.³ This rather startling result must be tempered by mention of several uncontrolled variables. The female drivers were not allowed to drive at night. They furthermore did not have to pass a standard driving test which males did. Also fourteen percent of the women were completely inexperienced when hired and had to be trained by the company. In 1927 and 1928 use of the automobile was not widespread and female drivers were rarely encountered at that time. This leads to the suspicion that in addition to the fourteen percent of the women who were completely inexperienced, most of the rest of the women had rather limited experience. Given these shortcomings, the Viteles and Gardner study seems to have little more than historical value.

A. R. Lauer also compared the accident involvement of male and female drivers. His subjects were a sample of 7,692 drivers drawn from the Iowa state records during the years of 1948 and 1949. The accurate mileage data available to Viteles and Gardner was not available to Lauer, so he had drivers estimate their annual mileage both during the day and at night. Using these estimates, he found that females did about ten percent of the driving

³M. S. Viteles and H. M. Gardner, "Women Taxicab Drivers: Sex Differences in Proneness to Motor Vehicle Accidents," <u>Personnel Journal</u>, Vol. 7, (1929), pp. 349-355.

and had about nine percent of the accidents.⁴ No differentiations were made concerning the severity of the accidents. In terms of accidents per annual mileage, Lauer found male drivers under thirty contributing a disproportionaly large amount to the accident total. Males also appeared to drive for five years before they exhibited any improvement in their driving record, while female drivers began improving immediately.⁵

Clifford O. Swanson, Lilliam C. Schwenk, and A. R. Lauer studied the drivers of vehicles involved in all the fatal accidents which transpired in Iowa during 1955 and 1956. Driver fatalities showed almost a nine to one ratio of male to female for 1955 and about a six to one ratio in 1956. When the two sexes were equated for estimated annual mileage (gained from drivers still alive), the ratio for the two years combined reduced to 2.49 to 1, male to female. The investigators also found that the fatal accident rate for both sexes decreased until about age thirtyfive, stayed level throughout the middle years, and began increasing again around the age of fifty-five. Males had a higher accident rate, for all ages except twenty-five to

⁵<u>Ibid</u>., p. 137.

[&]quot;A. R. Lauer, "Age and Sex in Relation to Accidents," <u>Accident Research Methods and Approaches</u>, ed. William Haddon, Edward A. Suchman, and David Klein, (New York: Harper and Row, 1964), pp. 137-138.

twenty-nine and sixty to sixty-four when corrected for average annual mileage.⁶

Moving ahead in time and to the West coast. the 1964 California Driver Record Study also compared male and female drivers on accident involvement, as well as conviction frequency. In analyzing the driving records of over 90,000 males and over 65,000 females, the investigators found female involvement to be relatively less frequent than that of males in accidents and traffic violation convictions. Males had a mean of .260 accidents over the 3 years; while females had a mean of .126 during the same period.⁷ However. when the accidents were broken down into those reported to the California Highway Department and those not, the difference between males and females was accentuated in the former case and shrunk in the latter, although males still almost doubled females.⁸ A small portion of this difference could be attributed to an enforcement differential, however, the magnitude of the difference indicates that males are probably involved in more severe accidents.

⁶Clifford O. Swanson, Lilliam C. Schwenk, and A. R. Lauer, "Age and Fatal Motor Vehicle Accidents," <u>Highway</u> <u>Research Abstracts</u>, Synopsis Issue, Vol. 27, (Washington, D. C.: National Academy of Science - National Research Council, December, 1957), p. 69.

⁷ Accidents, Traffic Citations and Negligent Operator Count by Sex," <u>The 1964 California Driver Record</u> <u>Study</u>, Part II, (Sacramento: California Department of Motor Vehicles, Report No. 20, March, 1965), p. 19.

During the same period of time, males had a mean of 1.103 total convictions, while females had a mean of only .374.9

When mean accident frequency was plotted as a function of age separately for single and married males and females, several interesting relationships were apparent. Up to the age of twenty-five, married males actually had a higher average accident frequency than single males. However, beyond that single males were consistently higher. Both curves for males had negative slopes, dropping sharply through the younger ages and more slowly as the age became greater. Both female curves, on the other hand, remained relatively flat over all ages.¹⁰ These results are inconsistent with those of Lauer, reported earlier. Perhaps the discrepancy lies in the fact that Lauer did equate for estimated annual mileage, and the California study used data fifteen years more recent than Lauer. Married females were consistently lower in accident frequency than single females. In fact, beyond the age of thirty the curves of single females and married males were at almost the same level.¹¹ The results were very similar when mean conviction rate was plotted rather than mean accident rate. The slope for males

^{9&}lt;u>Ibid.</u>, p. 19.

¹⁰Driver Record by Age, Sex and Marital Status," <u>The 1964 California Driver Record Study</u>, Part V, (Sacramento: California Department of Motor Vehicles, Report No. 20, June, 1965), pp. 4-5.

was a little more sharply negatively decelerated, and married males were a little more consistently lower than single females. Overall, however, the two sets of curves were very similar.¹²

B. J. Campbell studied 32,387 fatal and injury accidents involving only passenger cars and within the jurisdiction of the state highway patrol. (Although not cited explicitly, the state was probably New York). Male drivers accounted for eighty percent of this sample. By looking at male and female accident involvement relative to total involvement of each sex respectively, Campbell found the proportion of accidents for females was higher than that for males on weekdays, while males were higher on weekends. When the data was plotted by time of day, male drivers were found to have proportionately more accidents from 6 P.M. to 6 A.M., with female drivers being proportionately higher during the remaining twelve hours.¹³

Using data from all of the 17,400 accidents contained in the 1957 Michigan State Police records, Terrence M. Allen calculated phi coefficients between all pairs of twenty-three dichotomized variables. Included among these variables was sex (female involved or not). Let it be noted that not all the variables were naturally dichotomous

¹³B. J. Campbell, "Driver Age and Sex Related to Accident Time and Type," <u>Traffic Safety Quarterly Research</u> <u>Review</u>, Vol. 10, (1966), pp. 36-43.

^{12&}lt;u>Ibid</u>.

as is sex. Bather, most had to be artificially dichotomized to make the calculation possible. The phi coefficients were then factor analyzed. Sex loaded most highly (-.45) on factor III (night). Other variables showing high loadings on the same factor were alcohol (.55), daylight (-.77), and rush hour (-.63). The signs of the loadings indicate that females were associated with daylight, rush hour, and absence of alcohol, with males being associated with the converse of these variables. Moderately small loadings for sex were found on factor VI (.21) which Allen named "youth-inexperience", factor V (-.18) referred to as "rural", and factor VIII (-.17), a small factor having vehicle defect as the only variable loading highly.¹⁴

In another study of California drivers, Hugh S. Penn used 5,203 single vehicle accidents transpiring in September of 1961 and June of 1962 as data. Two previous California studies (unreferenced), one to determine the proportion of each sex in the total driving population and the other to determine the average annual mileage for driving members of each sex, were used to equate males and females on exposure. Unfortunately, the method by which annual mileage was determined was not made explicit. Using this derived index of relative driving distance, the investigators concluded that

¹⁴Terrence M. Allen, "A Factor Analysis of Accident Records," <u>Highway Research Record No. 79</u>, (Washington: National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council, January, 1965), p. 20.

if equated for mileage male drivers would have been involved in 53.6 percent of the accidents studied and female drivers would have been involved in the remaining 46.4 percent.¹⁵

Each accident was placed into one of eleven categories of "causes" or, more accurately, "precipitating factors." The accidents of male drivers were found to be significantly more frequently contained in the categories of speed, drowsiness, and drinking; while female drivers were found more frequently in the categories of faulty driving, adverse driving conditions (emergency situations in the driving environment), and distraction inside of the vehicle. The categories of mechanical failure, distraction outside the vehicle, medical problems, unknown vehicle, and miscellaneous did not differentiate the sexes at a significant level.¹⁶

The results of a study by Leonard Uhr appear consistent with Penn's finding of a tendency for female drivers to be more frequently involved in accidents precipitated by "adverse driving conditions." The brevity of Uhr's article precluded any precise understanding of the design and conduct of the study. A motor scooter was used to confront drivers with an unusual situation. At the time of his

16<u>Ibid</u>., p. 3.

¹⁵Hugh S. Penn, "Causes and Characteristics of Single Car Accidents," <u>Highway Research Record No. 79</u>, (Washington: National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council, January, 1965), pp. 1-16.

study motor scooters were newly legalized, and very uncommon. The study was carried out as follows:

> An auto was first judged to be behaving dangerously toward a motor scooter (by cutting across or into the scooter's path from a stop street or alley so that the scooter driver was forced to brake or swerve his vehicle). Only <u>after</u> this judgement was made, the sex of the auto driver was determined. . . Twenty-five such incidents were accumulated, along with twenty-five comparison incidents . . .17

This behavior was found to be highly related to the sex of the driver. Nineteen of the drivers judged to be behaving dangerously were women, while only six men were so designated; of the "safe" drivers, twenty-two were men and only three were women. Thus, female drivers were significantly more likely to make an inappropriate and dangerous response in the presence of this situation.¹⁸

A preliminary report of a study conducted at Northwestern University by J. Stannard Baker adds further evidence of an adverse driving situation being more likely to terminate in an accident for females than males. Baker found that female drivers have about four times the average likelihood of accidents following flat tires. Females under twenty were found to be twenty-two times as likely, and women between twenty and thirty-five were about five times as likely. Apparently the additional skill needed to avoid

¹⁷Leonard Uhr, "Sex as a Determinant of Driving Skills: Women Drivers," <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, Vol. 43, (1959), p. 35.

¹⁸ Ibid.

a collision in such a situation tended to be found more often with male drivers than female drivers.¹⁹

In a very ambitious study of accident causation on the Pennsylvania Turnpike, Paul Blotzer, et. al. analyzed over 9,000 State Police Reports compiled during the years of operation of the turnpike. The investigators adopted the model that "Accidents are caused in a vast majority of cases by human error, and to a smaller extent, by vehicle error - both factors influenced by the environmental conditions incountered in the driving operation."²⁰ Those accidents judged primarily caused by human error, as opposed to vehicle error, were classified into one of eight categories of "causes" or "precipitating factors," based on what was judged to be the primary cause of the accident. When accidents involved more than one vehicle, only the driver of the vehicle judged at fault was entered into the analysis.

The investigators found a significantly greater percentage of female drivers involved in accidents classified in two human error categories - "failure to cope with road conditions" and "deficiencies in routine driving skills."

¹⁹Highway Research News Briefs, <u>Highway Research News</u> <u>No. 31</u>, (Washington, D. C.: National Academy of Sciences, Highway Research Board, Spring, 1968), pp. 8-9.

²⁰Paul Blotzer, Richard L. Krumm, Donald M. Krus, and Donald E. Stark, <u>Accident Causation - Pennsylvania Turnpike</u> <u>Joint Safety Research Group</u>, (Harrisburg: Westinghouse Air Brake Co., 1954), p. 11.

The "failure to cope with road conditions" category contained mostly skidding accidents with a few resulting from high winds. The "deficiencies in routine driving skills" category contained very similar types of accidents. The difference between the two categories is simply that in the case of the former no judgment of specific driver error was made. "The skidding accidents listed as 'failure to cope with road conditions' would probably be included in the 'deficiencies in routine driving skills' category had sufficient information regarding what the driver did or did not do been included in the accident reports for these accidents."²¹ This result seems consistent with the results of Penn and Uhr. Since sex differences were not mentioned in the report for the remaining six categories, it must be assumed no significant differences existed, other than within the "inattentiveness" category, where male drivers were more often found in the "asleep" subcategory.

The investigators isolated four broad environmental variables, "light conditions", "weather conditions", "roadway conditions", and the "roadway element". Male drivers were found to be involved in relatively more accidents at night. Females, of course, were involved in more daytime accidents.²² No mention was made of sex differences on the

> ²¹<u>Ibid</u>., p. 37. ²²<u>Ibid</u>., p. 94.

other three variables; therefore, again, the assumption must be made that no such differences existed in the data.

Accident Causation

In reporting these studies, the concept of cause has been introduced without adequate discussion. Allen has pointed out that most people are aware that accidents cannot validly be thought of as having a single cause.²³ In speaking of "myths and misconceptions in traffic safety." William E. Tarrants stated, "It is evident . . . that accidents have multiple causes . . . "24 However, some very thorny definitive and other practical problems in accident research are present when accidents are considered as being caused by more than one factor. Edward A. Suchman defined an accident as ". . . the end product of a sequence of acts or events which result in some 'unanticipated' consequence quence of events can be defined as one of the causes, and what can be ignored? The situation is such that changing any one or more of the factors to determine the effect upon

²³Allen, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 17.

²⁴William E. Tarrants, "Myths and Misconceptions in Traffic Safety," <u>Highway Research News No. 31</u>, (Washington, D.C: National Academy of Sciences, Highway Research Board, Spring, 1968), p. 60.

²⁵William Haddon, Edward A. Suchman, and David Klein, <u>Accident Research Methods and Approaches</u>, (New York: Harper and Row, 1964), p. 274.

the end product cannot be accomplished. Furthermore, the unexpected nature of an accident combined with the rapidity with which it transpires makes an accurate assessment of the sequence of acts on events difficult if not impossible. Also, statistical analyses are much simpler if each accident is classified into only one category, even though with the development of high speed computers, this is becoming less of a handicap.

Considerations such as these led many investigators to classify each accident according to what they considered the primary cause, while still maintaining a multiple causation model on a theoretical level. For example, Penn discussed the concepts of accident conditions, factors, and causes originally formulated by Baker. Accident conditions are ". . . environmental or behavioral circumstances which surround the accident, but which may not be a part of the causative process . . . Factors are causative elements, no one of which is usually strong enough to produce an accident. In combination, however, and triggered by some precipitating incident, they will produce a mishap."²⁶ The "cause" then is the precipitating incident. Blotzer, et. al. emphasized that accidents are ". . . the result of interactions between environmental, vehicular, and human factors."27 They included a list of possible "antecedent"

²⁶Penn, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 4.
²⁷Blotzer, <u>et al.</u>, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 35.

factors for each of the "precipitating" factors. Cause within this conceptual scheme became the precipitating factor. However, Tarrants rightly pointed out that "It may be possible to identify proximate and distal causal factors in a particular accident by going back in time or space from the point of impact. However, to identify one of these factors as the <u>primary cause</u> is a very difficult if not impossible task."²⁸

The assumption of a single or primary cause does not have to be made at all. When an automobile accident occurs, there are many factors present which may be recorded in an accident report without any mention of which of the factors or what factor caused the accident. Accidents can then be studied to determine which of these factors tend to be related, or, in other words, which variables tend to be associated across accidents and which tend to be independent of each other. The accident can then be analyzed in a manner more congruent with what it is, a complex many-faceted event. Reducing this event to one cause just does not do it justice. For example, the time of day an accident takes place can be an important variable in the over-all understanding of accidents. But the time at which an accident took place would hardly be expected to ever attain the distinction of having "caused" the accident. Likewise the driver judged not at fault in a multiple vehicle accident still played a signif-

²⁸Tarrants, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 59.

icant role in that accident and really does not deserve to be ignored completely. For example, the excessive speed of a driver may be judged as the cause of an accident, but had the other driver judged that speed properly and not pulled out, the accident would not have happened.

The approach taken in the study by Allen, reported earlier, was that of characterizing each accident by the presence or absence of twenty-three variables. Relations between these variables were sought. Thus, notions of causation were not necessary.²⁹ The shortcoming of that study lay in the necessity for artificial dichotomization of some of the variables; thus limiting the amount of information gained from each variable. Also, because Allen analyzed all accidents at once, he had to place dissimilar accidents into the same categories. For example, single vehicle accidents involving female drivers and multiple vehicle accidents involving either one or two female drivers had to be placed into the same category on the "female involved or not" variable. This was true of other variables as well.³⁰

The present study also eliminated any consideration of cause in the accidents studied. The question asked was, how are the two sexes different in terms of the characteristics of the accidents they have? The underlying statistical assumption made was that if the two sexes are not dif-

²⁹Allen, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 18.

³⁰<u>Ibid</u>., p. 19.

ferent on a specific variable, then the proportion of accidents for each sex within each category of that variable will be very similar. For example, if male drivers had 60 percent of their accidents in an intersection, while female drivers had 60.1 percent of their accidents in an intersection, then no difference between the sexes on the "intersection or not" variable can be inferred. On the other hand, if the two relative proportions differed greatly, then some relationship appears to be in evidence.

For the example above, a variable was chosen which is naturally dichotomous. This method is not limited to dichotomous variables, but rather is applicable to a larger number of categories within each variable. The present study also gained precision by analyzing the data from single and multiple vehicle accidents separately. Reasons will be discussed in more detail later.

Exposure

Exposure is an equally important concept in accident theory and research. In order for an accident to occur a person has to place himself or be placed in a situation whereby he can become involved. In other words, he has to be exposed to some risk. It is immediately obvious that one who is never near an automobile will never be involved in an automobile accident. It follows that other things being equal the accident rate of a driver will be an increasing function of the amount he drives. This reasoning was made very explicit by Ross A. McFarland and Roland C. Moore concerning their sample of young male and female drivers. "If boys and young men drive three times more than equal-aged members of the opposite sex, they acquire three times as much exposure to the possibility of accidents . . .³¹ In much of the accident literature exposure is operationally defined as precisely the number of miles driven per unit of time, usually a year. In studies concerned with sex differences, investigators, recognizing that males tend to drive more than females, have attempted to equate the sexes by multiplying by a factor dictated by annual mileage differences.

It must be noted, however, that accurate mileage data are difficult to obtain. Frederick E. Vanosdall obtained exposure data by having 6,358 drivers from the state of Michigan estimate the number of miles they drove during the average week. Male drivers represented 70.35 percent of the drivers in the study sample and female drivers 29.65 percent. The estimates indicated that male drivers drove 88.8 percent of the total miles and female drivers drove 11.2 percent. Males estimated they did sixty-eight percent of their driving in the daytime and thirty-two percent at night. Females, on the other hand, indicated they did seventy-six percent of their driving in the daytime and

³¹Ross A. McFarland, and Roland C. Moore, <u>Youth and</u> <u>the Automobile</u>, (Golden Anniversary White House Conference on Children and Youth, 1960), p. 469.

only twenty-four percent at night.³² These findings are consistant with the results of Campbell's study of male and female accident involvement, reported eariler.

Earl Allgaier,³³ and Clifford O. Swanson, et al.,³⁴ obtained overall exposure data by having drivers estimate the total number of miles they had driven per year. This method, although perhaps better than no data at all, leaves much to be desired. Estimates are likely to be in error, for most drivers do not keep accurate records of the amount they drive.³⁵ Little trips, such as are common to women, have a tendency to "add up" mileage much more quickly than is sometimes realized.

Like Vanosdall, Siebrecht,³⁶ and Lauer³⁷ went one step farther in having members of both sexes estimate their total daytime and nighttime driving. The data collected

³³Earl Allgaier, "Some Road-User Characteristics in the Traffic Problem," <u>Traffic Quarterly</u>, Vol. 4, (1950), pp. 59-77.

³⁴Swanson, <u>et al., op. cit.</u>, p. 69.

³⁵Haddon, <u>et al., op. cit</u>., p. 138.

³⁶E. Siebrecht, "A Preliminary Report of Accident Characteristics of Iowa Drivers," <u>Iowa Academy of Science</u>, 1953 Proceedings, 60, pp. 552-557.

³⁷Lauer, <u>op. cit.</u>, pp. 130-138.

³²Frederick E. Vanosdall, "An Introductory Study to Show the Relationships Between Michigan Drivers by Age, Sex and Exposure in Miles of Motor Vehicle Operation," (unpublished Master's thesis, Michigan State University, 1966), pp. 69-70.

were perhaps even less accurate than estimates of the total mileage driven. It is unlikely that people have the ability to be sufficiently accurate in estimating daytime and nighttime driving, and such data could be more misleading than enlightening.

The inaccuracy of the estimates is not the only reason why it is not adequate to consider the sexes equalized on exposure by merely dividing accident frequencies by average annual mileage. There is no basis for concluding that annual mileage directly reflects accident risk independent of other factors such as where an individual drives and the experience gained while driving under different circumstances. Ross A. McFarland observed that drivers ". . . differ widely in their exposure, even though they have equal records, one may have driven under vastly different circumstances."³⁸ Insofar as there are differences in the amount of driving done by the sexes in factors which have an influence upon risk, there will be differences in the actual exposure to accidents which are not reflected by annual mileage alone. It is well documented, for example, that limited access freeways are less dangerous per mile driven than two-lane roads. Also, per mile driven more "serious" accidents happen after dark than during the daylight hours. To say, then, that an individual driving one

³⁸Ross A. McFarland, Roland C. Moore, and A. Bertrand Warren, <u>Human Variables in Motor Vehicle Accidents</u>, (Boston: Harvard School of Public Health, 1955), p. 12.

hundred miles at night on a two-lane road is exposed to the risk of an accident equally with another individual driving one hundred miles on a freeway in the middle of the day is obviously not true.

The discussion of exposure has been actually tangential thus far, since the present study is not particularly interested in total accident involvement but rather sex differences in attendant variables recorded in accident records. Within each sex a great deal of variance is exhibited in driving habits leading to overlap on any exposure variable. This will be discussed in more detail below. In spite of the overlap, there are believed to be stable differences between the sexes taken as two distinct populations. These differing driving habits lead to differing levels of exposure to accidents of a certain type. For example, as was previously pointed out, in this culture men do a higher proportion of their driving at night than women. Given this information, male drivers would be expected to have a higher proportion of their accidents at night than female drivers. A difference on this variable in that direction is at least partially explainable by the exposure difference. If such a difference was not accompanied by a similar difference in exposure, an alternative explanation, probably concerned with how males and females drive rather than when or where they drive would be warranted.

An example of a conclusion which did not take exposure into account is found in the California study of sin-

gle car accidents.

. . . men's aggressiveness, daring, and rebelliousness make for reckless and often unlawful behavior. As women's psychological make-up embodies the obverse of these traits, they are comparatively low in accidents due to speed, drinking and perhaps the aftermath of recreational activities - drowsiness.⁹

This explanation was put forth in response to the finding that males had significantly more accidents caused by speed, drowsiness, and drinking. The explanation is in terms of psychological determinants of the way people drive. A wholly more parsimonious explanation, it would seem, is that of exposure. Males tend to drive relatively more in high-speed situations. Likewise males drive relatively more frequently at night, thus leading to more accidents involving drowsiness. Males probably also drive relatively more frequently in the presence of alcohol, not necessarily because of a difference in psychological makeup, but rather because of cultural roles and expectations. More will be said concerning these expected differences in exposure later in the paper.

Lilliam C. Schwenk utilized an explanation similar to that of Penn when she discussed her finding of a tendency for males at younger ages to be killed than females, both as drivers and pedestrians. She wrote, ". . . this may be due to the masculine characteristic of aggressive-

³⁹"Driver Record by Age, Sex and Marital Status," <u>The 1964 California Driver Record Study</u>, Part V, Report No. 20, (Sacramento: California Department of Motor Vehicles, June, 1965), p. 4.
ness."⁴⁰ This explanation also ignored exposure differences. It is the contention of this researcher that this type of reasoning only clouds the issue. A realization of which differences may or may not be accounted for by consideration of exposure is essential for an understanding of the data.

Driving Habits of the Two Sexes

It would be good at this point to use past studies to determine the driving habits of males and females. However, to this researcher's knowledge, there are no suitable studies available. As a suggestion for future research, a method whereby this needed information could be accurately obtained is in the form of personal interviews. Participants should be requested to state exactly where and when they drove during the immediate past. The number of past days for which people can accurately remember their driving would have to be determined, and then this limitation could not be exceeded. A large number of interviews, repeatedly with the same subjects or with different subjects, would be necessary, but an accurate and meaningful pattern could be expected to emerge which could then serve as reliable exposure data for use in this study and in other similar studies concerned with sex and other biographical variables.

⁴⁰Lilliam C. Schwenk, "Age and Sex in Relation to Fatal Traffic Accidents for 1957 - A Continuation Study," <u>Iowa Academy of Science</u>, 1958 Proceedings, 65, p. 425.

This study must content itself with reasoning from observed differences in the roles of the two sexes in this culture. The following discussion and the specific predictions which follow are of an armchair quality which leaves the reader the choice of accepting the reasoning as logical and congruent with his own observations or rejecting all or parts of the reasoning. The main thrust of the report is based on these suspected differences in the driving habits of the two sexes, and the conclusions reached will be invalid insofar as the premises are rejected.

As was previously mentioned, the driving habits of the two sexes exhibit a great deal of overlap. In general, although in physical terms sex is almost completely a dichotomous variable, such is not so nearly the case from a psychological point of view. The distribution of the two serves have been found to be overlapping on all measurable psychological variables. On any given attribute, some makes will be found more "feminine" than some females and vice versa. This is certain to be true of driving habits. For example, it is very possible for an unmarried female to develop driving habits which are more similar to a man's than to another member of her own sex. She may be going to and coming from work at the same time as males and also doing a great deal of driving at night and on the highways. The driving of a certain male salesman, on the other hand, might be characterized by short, daytime trips in the city, a pattern of driving which is more typical of female driv-

ers. These overlaps must be kept in mind as discussion turns to suspected differences in exposure and to specific predictions as to how the sexes will differ as a result of these differences. The typical male and the typical female will be referred to often, indicating some sort of average or normal member of each group who, in fact, has no real existence. The rule is rather relatively small mean differences and relatively large amounts of overlap. For this reason, small but significant differences become important, and the underlying relationships must be sought with care.

How can the driving habits of male and female drivers be characterized? Some differences seem immediately apparent. Men tend to drive to work in the morning, returning in the late afternoon. The female, in the meantime, has taken the children to school, gone shopping, and performed a myriad of other small chores necessitating short trips. In the evenings, the male of the household is more likely to do the driving, especially as the hour gets later. Certainly if adult members of both sex travel together the male is more likely to be the one driving.

If alcohol is present it was probably preceded by a trip to a bar or the home of friends. Masculine escorts usually accompany women in both of these pastimes, in which case the male is more likely to be the one driving if he is able. It is relatively rare for a woman to attend a bar alone or with female companions compared to that activity by males.

Though members of both sexes commonly drive in town, the driving of a female is probably more typically nonrural, since she tends to stay less far away from home and since the shopping is usually done in highly populated areas. Men, on the other hand, might be expected to do more of the rural driving. Family trips usually find the male doing most of the driving. Males would seem more likely to be driving on weekends, with females driving relatively more on the weekdays while males are working.

Since female truck drivers are still a rare sight, a straightforward assumption is that male drivers drive vehicles other than passenger cars relatively more than female drivers. In our culture, timidity is more characteristic of females which leads to the assumption that females are less likely to drive under adverse driving conditions, such as snow, rain, etc. As a group they are probably more prone toward waiting for the weather to improve or for a man to do the driving.

Among young drivers an automobile is much more important to the status of a male than a female. Young males own their own vehicles in more cases than young females, as well as more frequently borrowing the family car. Once behind the wheel, it seems reasonable that boys would tend to drive greater distances than girls. Certainly it is a strong American custom for the male to do the driving on dates. Boys probably also tend to begin driving earlier than girls. The sixteenth birthday of the average boy is

marked by increasing eagerness until he can get his driver's license, while a girl is more likely to patiently postpone her license while letting her "boyfriend" do the driving.

Specific Predictions

The reader can probably think of other cultural sex differences which lead to suspected differences in driving habits. Given these basic assumptions about the nature of the sex differences in driving habits, what relationships between sex and the variables of interest can be hypothesized? To present an answer to the question, each of the classes of variables will be examined separately.

Time Variables

Since it is thought that females drive relatively more in the daytime, and males at night, a relationship between sex and both time of day and light condition is expected, with females having relatively more accidents in the daylight hours and men having relatively more accidents at night. An exception to this is predicted during the rush hours (7 - 9 A.M. and 4 - 6 P.M.). Men are expected to have relatively more accidents during these times than during the rest of the daylight hours than females. A further prediction is that female drivers have relatively more accidents on weekdays, with men taking precedence on the weekends.

Road Characteristics

The theory based on exposure predicts that female drivers have relatively more accidents on city streets. Male drivers, on the other hand, are expected to have relatively more accidents on U. S. and State highways. It is not clear what to predict concerning county roads. It could be that many of the short errand-type trips that the female is suggested as frequently making is in large part on county roads. Many suburban streets are actually considered county roads because they exist outside the city limits.

As for road geometry, since the more urbanized areas are characterized by a preponderance of straight, level streets and roads as opposed to the more often curved and graded rural highways, it is predicted that females have relatively more accidents on straight, level roads, with the converse being true of male drivers.

Location

Male drivers should have relatively more accidents occurring in rural areas according to the above reasoning. Because intersections are more common in urban areas, it is expected that relatively more of the accidents of female drivers are at an intersection.

Collision Characteristics

It is hypothesized that females are associated with intersections, which leads to the expectation that female

drivers are also associated with "entering from angle" in multiple vehicle accidents. Since same direction and opposite direction accidents can take place at locations other than intersections, male drivers might be expected to be slightly higher proportionately on these categories than female drivers. In single vehicle accidents, the pedestrian category is difficult to predict since pedestrian accidents are probably associated both with night and urban locations; thus leading to opposite predictions. Therefore, no prediction can be made with any certainty.

An association between sex and fatal accidents is expected, with males being relatively higher in the fatal category. This prediction is made on the strength of the expectation that males drive more at night, after having consumed alcohol, at higher speeds, and on rural roadways. All these variables contribute to conditions in which a fatal accident is more likely to happen.

Vehicle Characteristics

It is straightforward to predict that females are involved in relatively more accidents involving passenger vehicles with the opposite, of course, being true of male drivers.

Driver Characteristics

It would seem that male drivers would tend to have relatively more accidents during the younger years than fe-

males, perhaps up to age twenty-five, according to reasoning based on assumed exposure differences. It is also expected that inexperienced males have relatively more accidents than inexperienced females. In terms of registration, since males are assumed to do relatively more driving on long trips, the prediction follows that they are found relatively more frequently in the "outstate" category.

Driver Behavior

Since speeding violations can occur any place at any time, no prediction can be made based on exposure for this variable. Right-of-way violations probably are most common in urban driving; thus, it is predicted that female drivers are ticketed relatively more often for this violation.

No prediction is made concerning following-too-close violations, while male drivers are expected to be charged with passing violations relatively more often than female drivers because exposure predicts that males do more rural driving. Again the expectation that females do more urban driving leads to the prediction that they are involved in relatively more turning violations.

Consideration of exposure leads to the assumption that male drivers tend to drive at higher speeds, and, hence, to the prediction that they are involved in accidents at higher rates of speed. The assumption that males tend to drive relatively more at night leads to the prediction that males are guilty of sleeping behind the wheel

relatively more often than females. Exposure also directly leads to the prediction that males are relatively more often guilty of having consumed alcohol prior to an accident.

Weather Variables

Because the weather conditions are largely independent of time of day and location, i.e. the rain falls on everybody, and so does the snow, only a prediction of a small relationship between weather and sex, and surface condition and sex can be made. The fact that the feminine role dictates that females be a little more hesitant to drive under adverse conditions, as well as being more often able to wait until the road and weather clears, suggests the prediction that female drivers are relatively less likely to be involved in an accident in rainy, snowy, or foggy conditions.

CHAPTER II

THE DATA

The accident records maintained by the Michigan State Police include all reported motor vehicle traffic accidents occuring in the state excluding the city of Detroit. The sample selected for this study consisted of all reports of motor vehicle traffic accidents contained in the Michigan State Police files which occured during the years 1966 and 1971 in Berrien County, Michigan. The data consisted of 1,909 single vehicle accidents and 4,250 multiple vehicle accidents for 1966, and 2,167 single vehicle accidents and 4,820 multiple vehicle accidents for 1971.

The discriptive variables regarding motor vehicle traffic accidents, which were selected as the basis for this study, were determined by their appearance on the standard Michigan accident report form. Prior to this selection, a personal observation of the reports was made at the Michigan State Police accident records section in Lansing to verify their completness. Consultation with personnel at the records section provided assurance that the reports offered the most reliable official motor vehicle traffic accident information available. Twenty-nine variables in eight separate classes taken from the accident report form were found to be on record in usable form. These variables are:

Time Variables

Light condition

Time of day

Day of week

Road Characteristics

Highway classification

Road geometry

Road surface

Road defects

Location

Intersection

Locality

Collision Characteristics

Directional analysis

Fatal

Vehicle Characteristics

Vehicle type

Vehicle defects

Vision obscured

Driver Characteristics

Sex

Age

Experience

Registration

Driver Behavior

Speed violation Right-of-way violation Following-too-close Passing violation Turning violation Traffic control violation Violation other than speeding or drinking Alcohol Sleep Speed

Weather Variables

Weather

Surface condition

(A list of the categories within each variable is found in the Appendix.)

The data were collected and recorded by the State Police for their own purposes and not for the purposes of this study. Therefore, some of the variables recorded are not as relevant as one might hope, some are not grouped so as to gain maximum information, and some variables which would be of great interest are not included. An example of such a deficiency is that the age variable was grouped so that drivers between the ages of twenty and twenty-five were placed in the same category. This grouping is unfortunate since the legal drinking age (during the two sample years) falls right in the center. Thus, alcohol is a large factor in part of the group, a smaller but perhaps not negligible factor in the other part, and there is no way to separate the two.

On the other hand, the accident records kept by the Michigan State Police contain a great deal of information, and care is exercised in the collection and assessment of those records. This is definitely not second-class data, particularly in relation to that collected by other states.

Despite the care which is taken by Michigan law enforcement organizations, there is a bias which can creep into any accident record. Since only one person fills out the report for a given accident, no reliability check is available. This makes the data in general somewhat suspect. Specific to this study, an implicit assumption which the investigating officer may have concerning sex differences in driving abilities or habits can influence the way he fills out his report.⁴¹ For example, the implicit feeling that female drivers are less likely to be under the influence of alcohol can lead to a smaller likelihood of a female being judged in such a condition than a male driver, other things being equal. This is a very subtle bias. the effect of which can not be assessed. It may very well be that some results which will be reported are merely a result of the working of this bias and have no actual basis in reality.

⁴¹Haddon, <u>et al.</u>, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 139.

CHAPTER III

METHOD OF ANALYSIS

Chi square contingency table analyses were applied to the data in order to compare the relative proportions of each sex within the categories of each variable. A significant chi square value indicates dependence between the two variables in question, which is equivalent in the present study to saying that the proportions of the male drivers are statistically significantly different from those of the female drivers. Let it be emphasized that the comparisons between the sexes throughout this report are relative to the total number of accidents for each sex. The fact that males had almost three times as many accidents as females makes a straight comparison meaningless.

For each variable crossed with sex, separate analyses were done for each year. Within years, the data were analyzed separately for single and multiple vehicle accidents; and within multiple vehicle accidents, analyses were done separately for driver one and driver two. Thus, in all six separate analyses were done for each variable.

Separate analyses were done to permit an examination of the results in terms of replicability. To illustrate, a significant relationship, as indicated by the chi square value, in the data from one year which did not hold up for the other year would be considered suspect, unless a trend in the same direction was evident. On the other hand, comparable results for both years added confidence to the conclusion drawn from the data.

In all cases, single and multiple vehicle accidents were analyzed and discussed separately. There are several reasons for this. It allows drivers in the case of multiple vehicle accidents to be analyzed separately. If all accidents were grouped together, this could not reasonably be done. Also, some categories within variables are applicable to only one type of accident. For example, for single vehicle accidents only the "pedestrian" and "single vehicle" categories are relevant in the "direction analysis" variable, while for multiple vehicle accidents only the other five categories are relevant.

But perhaps most importantly, single and multiple vehicle accidents represent two distinct types of accidents. This is true in terms of what actually happens; i.e. a single vehicle accident can be accomplished by one vehicle; it takes at least two to have a multiple vehicle accident. It is also true in terms of relationships between sex and other variables. The reader will be able to note cases in which the relationship between sex and other variables is not the same for both types of accidents throughout the results to be reported in this study.

The data from driver one and driver two of the same year are actually not completely independent since a pair

of drivers is involved in each accident. However, credence is added to any conclusion drawn for multiple vehicle accidents by considering the data from both driver one and driver two. The dependency within years merely makes comparisons of the results of both years relatively more important and consistency between drivers of the same year somewhat less convincing than if they were independently sampled.

A significant chi square value gives no information about the direction of the relationship. Once a statistically significant relationship has been determined, the data must be further examined to discover the nature of the relationship. In this study, this was done by comparing proportions for those variables with significant chi square values. Within each sex the number of accidents in each category was divided by the total number of accidents in which a member of that sex was the driver. By comparing these proportions for the six (or fewer) separate analyses, conclusions were drawn as to the nature of the relationship between sex of the driver and the variable in question.

For some variables, further analyses were accomplished by looking at the relation of sex and the variable of interest within urban and rural accidents separately in some cases, and within day and night separately in other cases. The reason for doing this was simply to assess the effect of either the location of accidents or the time of

the accident upon the relation between sex and the variable of interest. Some differences were expected to diminish while others were expected to accentuate by these further analyses.

CHAPTER IV

THE RESULTS

The results of the chi square analyses are found in table 1.

Time Variables

All of the analyses with the "light condition" variable were significant. The relative proportions are presented in table 2. In every case female drivers have proportionately more accidents in the daytime, while male drivers are relatively higher at night and at dusk and dawn. The light - dark difference is much more pronounced for single than for multiple vehicle accidents. Considering the consistency of these results it can be concluded that the differences found between the sexes on the "light condition" variable are statistically reliable. When light condition was broken down into rural and urban locations, the proportions of accidents for each sex were very similar to the proportions in the entire sample. Thus, location did not appear to influence the relationship between sex and light condition. These results are found in table 3.

The highly related "time of day" variable exhibited a similar consistency. The results are presented in table 4. For single vehicle accidents in both years, male driv-

| CHI SQUARE VALUES AND SIG | SNIFICANCE L | SVELS FOR S | EX CROSSED | WITH ALL | OTHER VARI | ABLES |
|---------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| | S11 | ngle | | Mult | 1ple | |
| VARIABLE | 1966 | 1971 | 19 | 66 | 19 | 71 |
| | | | ц Ч | Dr 2 | ч Ч | Ъ Ъ |
| Time Variables | | | | | | |
| Light condition | 102.42 ^d | 81.22 ^d | 9.60 ^c | 10.12 ⁰ | 19.68 ^d | 22.34 ^d |
| Time of day | 110.29 ^d | 117.76 ^d | 18.35 ^b | 0*0*q | 20.84 ⁰ | 42.89 ^d |
| (7 categories) | 21.73 [°] | 16.05 ^b | 13.25 ⁸ | 15.43 ^b | 13.50 ⁸ | 16.19 ^b |
| uay (2 categories) | 15.35 ^d | 9.51 ⁰ | 2.74 | 14.76 ^d | 7.62 ⁰ | 5.23 ⁸ |
| Road Characteristics | | | | | | |
| Highway classification | 4.85 | 12.18° | 11.82 ⁰ | 15.19 [°] | 15.12 [°] | 21.24 ^d |
| Road geometry | 37.91 ^d | 13.01 [°] | 3.23 | .63 | 10.25 ^b | 5.28 |
| Road surface | .29 | * 0 * | .01 | 4.52 ⁸ | .01 | .11 |
| Road defects | .11 | 14.98 ^d | 4.75 | 3.75 | .72 | • 00 |
| Location | | | | | | |
| Intersection | 1.36 | • 02 | 3.51 | 3.40 | 11.17 ^d | 6.07 ^b |
| Locality | -02 | 1.66 | 7.36° | 1.94 | 13.61 ^d | 5.20 ⁸ |
| | | | | | | |

| CHI SQUARE VALUES AND SIG | NIFICANCE LI | CVELS FOR S | EX CROSSED | WITH ALL | OTHER VARI | ABLES |
|---------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| | S11 | ıgle | | Mult | iple | |
| VARIABLE | 1966 | 1971 | 19 | 66 | 19 | 71 |
| | | | ч В | Dr 2 | 」 | Dr 2 |
| Collision Characteristics | | | | | | |
| Directional analysis | .19 | 1.90 | 17.10 ^C | 20.73 ^d | 26.40 ^d | 11.33 ⁸ |
| Fatal | 2.07 | 2.52 | •92 | 1.01 | 2.39 | •80 |
| Vehicle Characteristics | | | | | | |
| Vehicle type | 35.19 ^d | 60.92 ^d | 38.87 ^d | 37.84 ^d | 80.97 ^d | 50.51 ^d |
| Vehicle defeots | 2.50 | 64. | 1.28 | .18 | .20 | •65 |
| Vision obscured | 6.06 ^b | 1.04 | •08 | •06 | .13 | .13 |
| Driver Characteristics | | | | | | |
| Age | 27.27 ^d | 17.23 ⁰ | 4.91 | 4.93 | 7.62 | 21.88 ^d |
| Erperie nce | 16.81 ^d | 1 3 9 9 | 36.14 ^d | 39.26 ^d | 8 9 8 | 8 |
| Registration | 10.52 [°] | .17 | 2.71 | 3.72 | 1.16 | 1.92 |
| Driver Behavior | | | | | | |
| Speed violation | 17.00 ^d | 26.49 ^d | 13.01 ^d | , 67°† | 21.21 ^d | 16.02 ^a |
| Right-of-way violation | -01 | •00 | 4.12 ⁸ | 12.61 ^a | 6.30 ^D | 1.51 |

TABLE 1 (continued)

| | S1 | ngle | | InW | tiple | |
|--|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| VARIABLE | 1966 | 1971 | 19 | 66 | 19 | 71 |
| | | | Ч Ч | Dr 2 | г В | Dr 2 |
| Pollowing-too-close | .05 | 1.74 | .10 | .16 | 40. | -67 |
| Passing violation | 3.17 | 3.71 | * 0 * | 1.14 | 1.18 | .26 |
| Turning violation | .45 | • 6• | .17 | .10 | .48 | .11 |
| Traffic control violation | † 0° | •02 | •03 | •06 | 2.94 | 2.87 |
| Violation other than speeding or drinking | 14.52 ^d | 1.73 | .29 | 5.14 ⁸ | 4.37 ^a | 6.48 ^b |
| Alcohol | 123.47 ^d | 159.02 ^d | 37.36 ^d | 32.25 ^d | 47.63 ^d | 41.05 ^d |
| Sleep | 12.03 ^d | 22.15 ^d | 2.78 | 4.90 ⁸ | 10.96 ^d | 5.23 ⁸ |
| Speed | 77.36 ^d | 52.02 ^d | 35.06 ^d | 29.43 ^d | 42.20 ^d | 26.81 ^d |
| Weather Variables | | | | | | |
| Weather | 29.47 ^d | 17.81 ^d | 1.87 | 4.81 | .81 | 15.19° |
| Surface condition | 34.37 ^d | 20.63 ^d | 10.46 ⁰ | 1.69 | 2.96 | 12.85 ⁰ |
| | 6 | | | | | |
| a=p<.05 b=p< | •02 | c = p < .01 | -0 | p < .001 | | |

TABLE 1 (continued)

CHI SQUARE VALUES AND SIGNIFICANCE LEVELS FOR SEX CROSSED WITH ALL OTHER VARIABLES

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF LIGHT CONDITION

| | Single V | Wehicle | | |
|----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Light Dark Dusk-dawn | 69.6 25.0 5.4 | 43.5 50.8 5.7 | 63.5 33.0 3.5 | 42.7 53.5 3.9 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ' 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| river l | | | | |
| Light | 69.9 | 61.6 | 70.0 | 60.1 |
| Dusk-dawn | 4.8 | 5.6 | 3.5 | 5.8 |
| river 2 | _ | | | _ |
| Light | 67.1 | 58.1 | 71.7 | 58.9 |
| Dusk-dam | 27•5 3.4 | 57.07 | 23.2 | 0، <i>ب</i> ر 4. 1 |

| R | ER PERCENTAGE OF A | CCIDENTS T CONDIT: | FOR EAC ION WITH | H SEX WIT | HIN RACH ONS | CA TEG ORY | OF | |
|------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|------------------|---------------|---------------|--------|
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 56 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Pe | male | A | le | Pel | mle | Ma | le |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura 1 | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura 1 |
| Light | 74.5 | 65.7 | 40.7 | 39.9 | 65.2 | 62 . 4 | 47.5 | 39.1 |
| Lark Dusk-dam | × • • • | 20.1 5.2 | *** ** | ₹. 2. 2. 2. 2. | 15 0.0 0.0 | | 4 0.4 | 3.76 |
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19(| 56 | | | 19 | 12 | |
| | Pel | male | Ma | le | Pe1 | bale | Å | le |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urben | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Light | 64°8 | 72.0 | 57.2 8 | 64•2 20 0 | 66.4 20 A | 70.8 24.2 | 55 . 9 | 64.7 |
| Dusk-dawn | 5.1 | | 0.2 | 5.9 | | N .0 | | |
| Driver 2 | | | | c | | a yu | 6 73 | ר אס |
| Dark | 27.1 | 13.9 | 00 98.4 | 31.8 | 26.92 | 18.3 | 39.2 | 32.6 |
| Dusk-dawn | 2.0 | 2.0 | 5.2 | 5.9 | 2.6 | 4.9 | 4.6 | 3.3 |

.

TABLE 3

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF TIME OF DAY

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|---|---|---|---|---|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| 12 PM - 3 AM 3 AM - 7 AM 7 AM - 9 AM 9 AM - 11 AM 11 AM - 1 PM 1 PM - 4 PM 4 PM - 6 PM 6 PM - 9 PM | 8.4 6.2 9.3 9.3 7.6 22.6 15.7 13.1 | 17.8 10.5 4.7 4.4 5.3 12.6 11.5 16.3 | 8.5 6.7 10.0 8.2 10.2 19.7 11.0 14.7 | 16.2 12.3 4.4 4.5 5.6 11.2 11.6 16.6 |

Multiple Vehicle

1966

| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
|----------------------------|-------------|------|-------------|------|
| Driver 1 | | | | |
| 12 PM - 3 AM | 4.2 | 2.3 | 5.5 | 8.2 |
| 2 AM = 7 AM | 2 2 | 1.7 | 2.2 | 5.1 |
| | J•J | 7.1 | 6 0 | 20 |
| 7 AM - 9 AM | 7• 7 | | 0.7 | 7.0 |
| 9 AM - 11 AM | 7.2 | (•) | 7.) | 10.8 |
| II AM - I PM | 11.7 | 7.7 | 12.9 | 10.0 |
| 1 PM - 4 PM | 21.2 | 17.5 | 19.3 | 17.3 |
| 4 PM - 6 PM | 15.6 | 15.5 | 16.4 | 14.0 |
| 6 PM - 9 PM | 15.9 | 20.0 | 18.0 | 18.0 |
| 9 PM - 12 PM | 11.1 | 12.4 | 9•5 | 11.9 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| 12 PM - 3 AM | 3.5 | 7.4 | 3.5 | 8.4 |
| 3 AM - 7 AM | i.8 | 5.1 | 2.8 | 5.7 |
| 7 AM - 9 AM | 10.0 | 7.4 | 10.7 | 6.3 |
| 9 AM - 11 AM | 10.0 | 6.9 | 12.6 | 7.1 |
| 11 AM = 1 PM | 11.5 | 8.2 | 13.8 | 10.3 |
| | 21 6 | 17.2 | 16.7 | 12.2 |
| | 12 h | 16 2 | 14 5 | 14 5 |
| | 10 0 | 10 0 | 14.2 | 18 1 |
| 0 PM - 9 PM | 19.0 | 19.7 | 17.5 | 10.1 |
| 9 PM - 12 PM | 6.2 | 12.9 | 8.2 | 11.9 |

ers clearly had proportionately more accidents between the hours of six P.M. and seven A.M. Female drivers were proportionately higher from seven A.M. until four P.M., with the remaining two hours being somewhat uncertain. The proportions for multiple vehicle accidents were similar, but not as much difference was shown between the sexes. Very similar conclusions can be drawn as were in the case of the data from single vehicle accidents, although there are singular exceptions. There does appear to be sufficient consistency to conclude a reliable difference between the sexes of the nature reported does, in fact, exist.

The proportions of rush hour (7 - 9 A.M., and 4 - 6 P.M.) accidents to total daytime (7 A.M. to 6 P.M.) accidents are found in table 5. In all conditions except 1966 driver two, male drivers had a higher proportion of rush hour accidents than female drivers.

All of the analysis proved to be significant when considering each of the seven days of the week as a separate category. With the data dichotomously grouped into the categories "weekend" (Saturday and Sunday) and "weekday" (Monday through Friday), all of the analyses were significant except driver one in 1966 multiple vehicle accidents. Although there are some weekdays in which males had proportionately more accidents than females, the general trend was definitely for males to have a greater proportion of their accidents on weekends than female drivers. Table 6 presents the proportions of accidents for each sex on the

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN RUSH HOUR (7-9 AM & 4-6 PM) AND OTHER DAYLIGHT HOURS (9 AM - 4 PM)

. .

| | Single V | Wehicle | an 19- 49-49-49-49-49-4 - | |
|---|----------|---------|----------------------------------|------|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Rush hour | 38.8 | 42.1 | 35.7 | 42.9 |
| hours | 61.2 | 57.9 | 64.3 | 57.1 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver 1 Rush hour Other daylight | 38.9 | 40.9 | 36.1 | 37.1 |
| hours | 61.1 | 59.1 | 63.9 | 62.9 |
| Rush hour | 40.0 | 37.7 | 36.9 | 37.9 |
| hours | 60.0 | 62.3 | 63.1 | 62.1 |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF DAY OF THE WEEK

| Single V | ehicle | | |
|----------|--|---|---|
| 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| Female | Male | Female | Male |
| 13.5 | 20.3 | 15.1 | 17.3 |
| 10.6 | 11.4 | 12.2 | 12.4 |
| 11.8 | 10.0 | 16.5 | 11.6 |
| 10.9 | 10.4 | 13.5 | 11.7 |
| 12.0 | 10.0 | 12.0 | 10•) 14 3 |
| 19.3 | 22.6 | 18.0 | 22.3 |
| Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| Female | Male | Female | Male |
| | | | |
| 16.6 | 19.8 | 12.9 | 16.9 |
| 13.1 | 12.0 | 15.2 | 12.5 |
| 11.6 | 9.0 | 9.3 | 11.2 |
| 11.6 | 8.9 | 13.5 | 11.4 |
| 14.0 | 16.2 | 12.9 | 16.3 |
| 20 0 | 22 K | 18.2 | 20.6 |
| 2007 | | ±∪ • £ | 2010 |
| | | | |
| 14.1 | 20.3 | 13.5 | 16.6 |
| 13.9 | 11.9 | 14.5 | 12.9 |
| 11.2 | 9.0 | 10.0 | 10.8 |
| 11.3 | 9.1 | 13.2 | 11.7 |
| 13.3 | 11.9 | 17.5 | 11.5 |
| | | 145 1 | |
| | Single V 196 Female 13.5 10.6 11.8 10.9 15.8 18.1 19.3 Multiple 196 Female 16.6 13.1 11.6 11.6 14.6 11.6 20.9 14.1 13.9 11.2 11.3 13.3 | Single Vehicle 1966 Female Male 13.5 20.3 10.6 11.4 11.8 10.0 10.9 10.4 15.8 10.8 18.1 14.5 19.3 22.6 Multiple Vehicle 1966 Female Male 16.6 19.8 13.1 12.0 11.6 9.0 11.6 8.9 14.6 11.6 11.6 16.2 20.9 22.6 14.1 20.3 13.9 11.9 14.1 20.3 13.9 11.9 11.2 9.0 11.3 9.1 13.3 11.9 | Single Vehicle1966197FemaleNaleFemale13.520.315.110.611.412.211.810.016.510.910.413.515.810.811.718.114.513.019.322.618.0Multiple Vehicle1966197FemaleMaleFemale16.619.812.913.112.015.211.69.09.311.68.913.514.611.612.911.616.218.020.922.618.214.120.313.513.911.914.511.29.010.011.39.113.213.311.917.5 |

different days. Table 7 presents the relative proportion of each sex for the weekday and weekend categories.

TABLE 7

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF WEEKDAY - WEEKEND

| Single V | Vehicle | | |
|--------------|--|--|---|
| 196 | 56 | 197 | ' 1 |
| Female | Male | Female | Male |
| 67.2 32.8 | 57.1 42.9 | 66.9 33 . 1 | 60.4 39.6 |
| Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| 196 | 6 | 197 | ſ |
| Female | Male | Female | Male |
| 62.5 37.5 | 57.6 42.4 | 68.9 31.1 | 62.5 37.5 |
| 67.7 32.3 | 56.8 43.2 | 69.3 30.7 | 62.9 37.1 |
| | Single V 196 Female 67.2 32.8 Multiple 196 Female 62.5 37.5 67.7 32.3 | Single Vehicle 1966 Female Male 67.2 57.1 32.8 42.9 Multiple Vehicle 1966 Female Male 62.5 57.6 37.5 42.4 67.7 56.8 32.3 43.2 | Single Vehicle 1966 197 Female Male Female 67.2 57.1 66.9 32.8 42.9 33.1 Multiple Vehicle 1966 197 Female Male Female 1966 197 Female Male Female 62.5 57.6 68.9 37.5 42.4 31.1 67.7 56.8 69.3 32.3 43.2 30.7 |

Road Characteristics

The "highway classification" variable crossed with sex yielded significant chi square values for all of the analysis except single vehicle accidents in 1966. The differentiating factor for the multiple vehicle accidents was the tendency for male drivers to have relatively more accidents on U. S. highways and, to a lesser extent, state highways, while female drivers tended toward relatively more accidents on city streets and, to a lesser extent, on county roads. These results can be seen in table 8. Although the chi square value for 1971 single vehicle accidents was significant, the 1966 single vehicle data contra-

TABLE 8

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF HIGHWAY CLASSIFICATION

| | Single V | ehicle | | |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|---|------------------------------|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| U.S. State County City | 16.7 15.7 60.7 6.9 | 16.4 20.3 57.2 6.1 | 17.9 16.7 45.1 20.3 | 18.6 14.7 51.5 15.2 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| river l | | | | |
| U. S. | 24.1 | 32.4 | 24.2 | 28.3 |
| State | 21.8 | 22.3 | 24.8 | 25.4 |
| County | 40.7 5 L | 40.0 L | 27.7 21.1 | 14.6 |
| 0103 | 2.4 | J | € & | T40 |
| river 2 | _ | | | - |
| U. S. | 26.2 | 32.0 | 20.0 | 28.5 |
| State | 18.6 | 22.9 | 22.3 | 25.9 |
| County | 48.1 | 40.9 | 36.4 | 30.3 |
| CITY | 7.1 | 4.2 | 21.3 | 12.2 |

dict this result. Therefore, no inference can be made concerning the single vehicle data on this variable.

It should be noted, however, that the "highway classification" variable is not as relevant to this study as it is to administrative considerations. The highway classification is often not indicative of the type of roadway in question, e.g., a U. S. highway is often a city street.

The relative proportions of each sex for each category of the "road geometry" variable are found in table 9. Both of the chi square values for single vehicle accidents were significant. However, for multiple vehicle accidents only one analysis was significant. The large chi square value for single vehicle accidents in 1966 came mainly from the contribution of the "curve" category, where females were far below the expected value. Female drivers were also below the expected value for the 1971 data but not as much. The results of the two analyses were also consistent for the other categories, with male drivers having relatively more accidents in the "grade-curve" category and female drivers having relatively more in the "straight" and "grade" categories. Because only one of the multiple vehicle analyses proved significant, no relationship for this type of accident can be inferred.

When the data were analyzed separately for rural and urban accidents, the tendency for males to have more single vehicle accidents on curves was accentuated in rural

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF ROAD GEOMETRY

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|-------------|----------|---------|--------|-----------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Straight | 67.4 | 56.3 | 64.0 | 62.7 |
| Grade | 17.0 | 14.6 | 16.7 | 12.7 |
| Curve | 8.3 | 20.0 | 10.7 | 15.2 |
| Grade-curve | 7•3 | 9.1 | 8.6 | 9.4 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | '1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| river l | | | | |
| Straight | 74.6 | 75.5 | 80.9 | 74.8 |
| Grade | 18.8 | 16.3 | 14.5 | 18.1 |
| Curve | 4.9 | 5.3 | 3.0 | 4.2 |
| Grade-curve | 1.7 | 2.9 | 1.6 | 2.9 |
| river 2 | | | | |
| Straight | 75.9 | 75.2 | 78.9 | 75.9 |
| Grade | 15.4 | 16.9 | 15.8 | 17.4 |
| Curve | 6.0 | 5.1 | 4.2 | 3.8 |
| Grade-curve | 2.7 | 2.8 | 1.1 | 2.9 |

locations. A similar rise in sex differences on curves was exhibited in accidents happening during the night-time. The sex differences remained in evidence within urban locations and during the daylight; however, with reduced magnitude. No new information was in evidence from these further analyses for multiple vehicle accidents. These results are found in tables 10 and 11.

| THE PER | CENTAGE OF A | CCIDENTS D GEOMETH | FOR EAC | H SEX WITH | IN EACH S | CA TEG OR Y | OF | |
|----------------------|--------------|-----------------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|--------------|------------|--------------------|
| | | | | Single V | ehicle | | | |
| | | 196 | 36 | | | 197 | 5 | |
| | Fe | nale | Ma | le | Pe. | male | (Wa | e |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urben | Rural |
| Stralght | 81.0 | 61.9 | 68.9 | 50.9 | 73.0 | 55.6 | 72.8 | 55.5 |
| Grade | 10.1 | 18.6 0.2 | و د د | 16.6 22.0 | | 21.9 21.9 | 11.4 | 13.4 |
| curve Grade-curve | 1.9 | 10.3 | 1 1 1 1 | 10.5 | 6.9 | 10.7 | .1. | 11.9 |
| | | | | Mult1ple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 196 | 90 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | Pe: | na le | Ma | le | P ^e | male | [m] | e |
| | Urben | Rural | Urben | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | | - | | | |
| Straight Grade | 85.2 10.4 | 65.3 26.0 | 82.8 11.2 | 70.5 19.8 | 85.4 11.8 | 68.8 21.7 | 14.0 | 62.7 25.8 |
| eurve | 0 | 6.9 | 4 | 0.0 | 2.2 7 | 2 2 2 | <u>ر</u> | 10 x m |
| | * • • | 0.02 | | | • | | • |) • F |
| Driver 2 Straight | 85.7 | 62.9 | 82.8 | 20.0 | 84.6 | 64.2 | 81.8 | 64.2 |
| Grade | ۳. ۳. | 21.2 | 11.6 | 20.7 | 11.4 | 24.7 | 13. 0.0 | 54. 0 0 0 |
| curve Grade-curve | ••• ••• | | | | | 10 | 1.7 | 5.3 |

| THE | PERCENTAGE OF A | CCI DENTS EOMETRY | POR EAC | H SEX WIT IGHT CONI | TIN EACH | CA TEG ORY | OF | |
|----------------------|-----------------|----------------------|-------------|------------------------|-------------|--------------|---------------------|--------------|
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Fe | De le | Ma | le | Fe1 | male | Ma | le |
| | Llght | Dark | L1ght | Dark | Light | Dark | L1ght | Dark |
| St ra 1ght | 40 | 68.7 | 62.4 | 50.8 | 64.8 | 60.9 | 69.0 | 57.8 |
| Grade | 18.8 | 8.0 | 19.3 | 10.8 | 16.2 | 19.1 | 13.8 | 11.6 |
| Curve Grade-curve | 4-5 6-4 | 12.0 | 12.0 6.3 | 27.2 | 10.2 8.8 | 11.8 8.2 | 9.4 7.8 | 19.4 11.2 |
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Fel | male | Ma | le | Fel | nale | Ma | le |
| | Light | Dark | Llght | Dark | Light | Dark | L1ght | Dark |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Stralght | 73.3 | 82.1 | 74.9 | 76.0 | 81.7 | 80.3 | 74.1 | 76.1 |
| Grade | 20.5 | 12.8 | 15.5 | 17.9 | 13.0 | 15.9 | 17.9 | 18. 6 |
| Curve | 4.1 | ۍ. ۳. | 6.1 | 1 ° 5 | <u></u> | 2.0 | 4.7 | 0 |
| Grade-curve | 2.1 | 1.3 | 3.5 | 1.9 | 1.8 | 1.5 | | 2•3 |
| Driver 2 | | • | - | | | | - | |
| Stra1ght | 74.5 | 80.6 | 74.7 | 76.4 | 82.3 | 20.0 | 74.0 | 78.1 |
| erade Cirve | 7.01 2.2 | | | 7. V 2. V | 10-17 | 7.02 4.34 | 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 | 10.0 |
| Grade-curve | 5.00 | • | 3.2 | S.0 | 1.0 | 0 | 3.3 | 2.4 |

One single vehicle and one multiple vehicle analysis was significant for the "road defect" variable. In the absence of replication, these results are suspect. The relative proportions can be seen in table 12. A small tendency for females to have more accidents in the presence of road defects is in evidence. In conjunction with the small number of accidents which fell into the "road defect" category, thus attenuating the chi square value, this leads to a suspicion that a relation may exist. This conclusion can, however, only be held very tenuously.

TABLE 12

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF ROAD DEFECT

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|---|--------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Road defect No road defect | 11.5 88.5 | 11.0 89.0 | 12.0 88.0 | 7.0 93.0 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 1966 | | 1971 | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver 1 Road defect No road defect | 8.4 91.6 | 5.5 94.5 | 6.1 93.9 | 5.1 94.9 |
| Driver 2 Road defect No road defect | 3.8 96.2 | 6.4 93.6 | 5•3 94•7 | 5.3 94.7 |

Location

Neither the analyses for single vehicle accidents nor the analyses for 1966 multiple vehicle accidents were significant for the variable "intersection". Both analyses of 1971 multiple vehicle data were. The proportions of multiple vehicle accidents are presented in table 13. Although the 1966 data were not significant, all of the proportions show similar direction. Female drivers show a higher proportion of accidents at intersections. It seems reasonable to assume a small but reliable difference between the sexes on this variable for multiple vehicle accidents.

When multiple vehicle accidents were further analyzed within rural and urban accidents, females still had consistently more intersection accidents, relatively

TABLE 13

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF INTERSECTION

| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
|---|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver 1 Intersection Nonintersection | 49.3 50.7 | 43.9 56.1 | 54.0 46.0 | 46.0 54.0 |
| Driver 2 Intersection Nonintersection | 49.3 50.7 | 43.9 56.1 | 54•5 45•5 | 47.5 52.5 |

speaking, for rural accidents. For urban accidents, female and male drivers were much more similar. Males actually had a slightly higher proportion of their accidents for 1966 driver one, while females were slightly higher in the other three multiple vehicle conditions. It appears that for urban accidents, no consistent sex difference was in evidence, while in rural accidents, females were proportionately more often found in intersection accidents. These results are found in table 14.

All but three of the analyses of the variable "location" were significant. Table 15 presents the relative proportions for each sex of the data from all six conditions in the "location" category. The direction of the relationship is the same for all conditions; namely, female drivers tend to have relatively more accidents in non-rural areas, while males, conversely, have more rural accidents. The conclusion must be that a weak but reliable relationship exists between sex and location. The proportions of each sex and the two location categories within day and night-time accidents are found in table 16. In general, the sex and location relationship is the same in the two light conditions.

Collision Characteristics

The variable "direction analysis" must be interpreted somewhat differently for single as opposed to multiple vehicle accidents. For single vehicle accidents, only
| THE PERCE | ENTAGE OF AC | CCI DENTS FERSECTI C | FOR EACI | I SEX WITH I LOCATION | HIN BACH (NS | CA TEGORY | OF | |
|---------------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|------------------|--------------|--------------------------------------|--------------|
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 196 | 90 | | | 197 | I, | |
| | Fen | bale | Ma | e | Fen | ua le | Ma | e |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Intersection Nonintersection | 53•8 46•2 | 44 20 20 20 | 56.4 43.6 | 35.6 64.4 | 58.3 41.7 | 40.8 59.2 | 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 9 | 33•0 67•0 |
| Driver 2 | | | | • • • | | | | - |
| Intersection | 56.3 | 42.8 | 55.8 | 35.8 | 58.1 | 43.9 | 54.1 | 33.0 |
| NonIntersection | 43.7 | 57.2 | 44.2 | 64.2 | 41.9 | 56.1 | 45.9 | 67.0 |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF LOCATION

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|----------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ני |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Urban Rural | 30.2 69.8 | 29.6 70.4 | 47.9 52.1 | 44.8 55.2 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver l Urban Rural | 48.7 51.3 | 40.7 59.3 | 75•3 24•7 | 67.1 32.9 |
| Driver 2 Urban Rural | 45.5 54.5 | 41.3 58.7 | 73.8 26.2 | 68.1 31.9 |

| | THE PER | ICENTAGE OF A | CCIDENTS | FOR EAC | F CONDITIO | IN EACH NS | CATEGCRY | OF | |
|----------------------------|---------|--------------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------------|--------------|-----------------------|--------------|
| | | | | | Single V | ehicle | | | |
| | | | 19 | 66 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | | Fe | nale | Ma | le | Pe. | male | [Wa] | • |
| | | L1ght | Dark | Light | Dark | L1ght | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Urban Rural | | 33•3 66•7 | 23.5 76.5 | 34°4 65°6 | 25.8 74.2 | 48.0 52.0 | 45.2 54.8 | 49.3 50 . 7 | 40.2 59.8 |
| | | | | | Mult1ple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | | 19 | 66 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | | Per | bale | Ma | e | Ре | male | [w] | • |
| | | Llght | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Driver 1 Urban Bural | | 46 . 1 53 . 9 | 55.3 44.7 | 37.8 62.2 | 46.4 53.6 | 74.2 25.8 | 79.6 20.4 | 63 . 8 36.2 | 71.4 28.6 |
| Driver 2 Urban Rural | | 42.3 57.7 | 62.1 37.9 | 38.6 61.4 | 45.9 54.1 | 72.4 27.6 | 80.8 19.2 | 65.3 34.7 | 72.0 28.0 |

TABLE 16

the "pedestrian" and "single vehicle" categories are relevant. The chi square analyses for the variable "direction analysis" on single vehicle accidents were non-significant for both years. The multiple vehicle proportions are presented in table 17. All of the analyses for this category were significant. Thus, a relationship between the sex of the driver and the direction analysis variable can be inferred only for multiple vehicle accidents. Females have proportionately more accidents with the vehicles entering from an angle and proportionately less with the vehicles going in the same direction. There is a small tendency for females to be relatively higher in the "opposite direction"

TABLE 17

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF DIRECTION ANALYSIS

| M | ultiple | Vehicle | | |
|---------------------|---------|---------|--------|------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | 1 |
| : | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver l | | | | |
| Entering from angle | 30.6 | 27.2 | 36.2 | 26.7 |
| Same direction | 27.9 | 32.0 | 21.0 | 28.5 |
| Opposite direction | 31.6 | 30.8 | 21.8 | 21.8 |
| Stopped | 6.6 | 9.0 | 20.3 | 21.1 |
| Parked | 3.3 | 1.0 | •7 | 1.9 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| Entering from angle | 35.1 | 26.2 | 34.7 | 27.9 |
| Same direction | 23.2 | 33.0 | 21.5 | 27.6 |
| Opposite direction | 32.5 | 30.6 | 23.4 | 21.5 |
| Stopped | 7.9 | 7.7 | 18.9 | 21.3 |
| Parked | 1.3 | 2.5 | 1.5 | 1.7 |

category also. The other two categories show little consistency. The results of this variable within locations for multiple vehicle accidents is found in table 18. It can be seen that the relationships described above are found within the two locations also.

The chi square analyses for the variable "fatal" crossed with sex were all non-significant; therefore, as far as these analyses go, no conclusion can be drawn.

Vehicle Characteristics

All analyses demonstrated that the "vehicle type" variable and sex were highly related. Inspection of the proportions of each sex for each category, which are found in table 19, makes the direction of this relationship obvious. In all cases male drivers were relatively less likely to be driving passenger cars than female drivers, and relatively more likely to be driving pickups and trucks. These results were highly reliable.

The chi square values for the variable "vehicle defect" crossed with sex were all non-significant. The chi square values for the variable "vision obscured" and sex were all non-significant except that from the analysis of 1966 single vehicle accidents. Because there were no significant analyses for the "vehicle defect" variable, and because there was no evidence for replication for the one significant result for the variable "vision obscured", no relation between either variable and sex can be inferred.

| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
|---------------------|-------------|-------|-------|----------|---------|-------------|-------|-------|
| | | 19(| 66 | | | 191 | 71 | |
| | Fei | male | Ma | le | Fei | nale | Ma | le |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura l | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura1 |
| Jriver 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Entering from angle | 31.7 | 27.8 | 29.9 | 24.4 | 37.5 | 32.0 | 28.9 | 22.0 |
| Same direction | 28.1 | 28.5 | 32.5 | 31.3 | 18.7 | 28.0 | 24.4 | 36.9 |
| Opposite direction | 27.3 | 36.5 | 26.0 | 34.2 | 20.4 | 26.0 | 18.5 | 28.1 |
| Stopped | 8.6 | 4.6 | 9.7 | 8.0 | 22.7 | 12.0 | 26.6 | 10.4 |
| Parked | 4. 3 | 2.6 | 1.9 | 2.1 | | 2.0 | 1.6 | 2.6 |
| Jriver 2 | | | | | | | | |
| Entering from angle | 40.2 | 30.7 | 28.1 | 24.1 | 36.3 | 30.5 | 30.3 | 22.7 |
| Same direction | 19.7 | 25.8 | 35.5 | 32.7 | 18.9 | 27.8 | 24.2 | 36.2 |
| Opposite direction | 28.0 | 36.8 | 24.8 | 34.0 | 22.1 | 27.8 | 18.0 | 27.6 |
| Stopped | 9.8 | 6.1 | 9.2 | 6.2 | 21.1 | 12.5 | 26.5 | 10.4 |
| Parked | 2.3 | • | 2.4 | 2.5 | 1.6 | 1.4 | 1.0 | 3.1 |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR RACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF DIRECTION ANALYSIS WITHIN LOCATIONS

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF VEHICLE TYPE

| | Single V | Wehicle | | |
|---|-------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | '1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Car Pickup Truck Other | 97.8 1.4 .0 .8 | 89.0 4.7 3.5 2.8 | 97.2 1.5 .5 .8 | 86.0 5.8 4.4 3.8 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ' 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver 1 Car Pickup Truck Other | 97•4 •9 •3 1•4 | 86.0 4.1 7.6 2.3 | 99.0 .6 .0 .4 | 85.5 5.9 7.0 1.6 |
| Driver 2 Car Pickup Truck Other | 97.0 2.1 .6 .3 | 85.6 4.3 6.8 3.3 | 98.8 .3 .0 .9 | 86.1 4.5 6.1 3.3 |

Driver Characteristics

The analysis of single vehicle accidents for both years were highly significant when the variable "age" was crossed with sex of the driver. The proportions for each sex in each category are presented in table 20. It can be seen that the differences between the two sexes were in a similar direction for the two years. Female drivers had proportionately more accidents between the ages of 25 and 64, while male drivers took relative precedence for 24 and under and very slightly for 65 and older. Since only one of the multiple vehicle analyses demonstrated a significant relationship, no conclusion can be inferred from the multiple vehicle data.

When age was analyzed within locations, and within light conditions nothing with any consistency was exhibited for multiple vehicle accidents. For single vehicle accidents, males between the ages of 20 and 24 consistently had proportionately more accidents than females of the same age. These results are found in table 21 and 22.

Unfortunately the accident records from 1971 did not contain data on the driving experience of the drivers. However, such data were collected as a part of the 1966 records and were analyzed as a part of this study. All three analyses showed a significant relationship between experience and sex. The results in terms of relative proportions are found in table 23. All three tables show a

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF AGE

| | Single V | ehicle | | | | | | |
|---|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ' 1 | | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | | | | |
| $ \begin{array}{r} - 19\\ 20 - 24\\ 25 - 44\\ 45 - 64\\ 65 - \\ \end{array} $ | 15.3 15.6 44.2 21.6 3.3 | 18.4 23.2 40.7 13.7 4.0 | 18.0 16.0 40.2 22.8 3.0 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | | | | |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | | | | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ' 1 | | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | | | | |

| Driver 1 | | | | |
|--------------------------|---------------------|------|-------------|------|
| - 19 | 8.8 | 11.4 | 10.7 | 12.6 |
| 20 - 24 | 15.7 | 15.1 | 18.6 | 15.4 |
| 25 - 44 | 51.5 | 46.7 | 40.4 | 41.1 |
| <u> </u> | 19.2 | 20.2 | 25.4 | 23.9 |
| 4) = C4 66 - | 1.8 | 66 | L 0 | 20 |
| 05 - | ₩.0 | 0.0 | ~• 7 | |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| - 19 | 10.9 | 11.5 | 10.8 | 15.8 |
| $20 - \overline{24}$ | 14.2 | 15.1 | 15.2 | 14.3 |
| 25 - 44 | 50.1 | 45.2 | 48.8 | 40.2 |
| $\tilde{\mu}_{5} = 6\mu$ | 20.4 | 21.3 | 23.3 | 23.8 |
| 45 - 04 | | 6 0 | 1 0 | 5 0 |
| 05 - | ~ • ~ | 0.7 | ↓ •7 | J•7 |

| | | | le | Rural | 18.0 | 23.5 2.5 | 2. 2. 2. 2. | 3.1 | | | le | Rural | | 10.5 | 12.4 | 41.0 | 24.1 | 2.0 | 1 | 15.6 | 10.1 | 26.4 | 6.1 |
|-----------------|----------|-----|-------------|--------|------|------------------|--|--|----------|-----|------|-------|----------|------|---------|--------------|---------|-------------|----------|-------------|---------------------|------|------|
| 9 0 | | 71 | A | Urban | 19.3 | 19.3 | 0. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. | 2.1 | | 71 | Ma | Urban | | 13.8 | | 41.1 | 23.7 | 7.1 | | 15.9 | | 23.2 | 5.2 |
| CA TEGORY | | 19. | uale | Rura 1 | 15.6 | 17.6 | 4 7 7 7 | 5 | | 19, | ale | Rural | | 9.1 | 14.2 | 4 5.0 | 24.2 | 7.5 | | 19.5 | 1.1 | 25.6 | 2°4 |
| HIN EACH (| leh1cle | | Pen | Urban | 20.5 | 15.6 | | 50°C3 | Vehicle | | Pen | Urban | | 11.4 | 19.3 | 38.9 | 26.4 | 1 •0 | | 15. | | 22.3 | 1.7 |
| A SEX WITH | Single (| | le | Rural | 19.0 | 23.7 | 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2 | . | Multiple | | • | Rural | | 11.0 | 15.7 | 44.7 | 21.2 | 7.4 | (| 2 .0 | | 22.1 | 8.5 |
| S FOR EAC | | 56 | [WA] | Urben | 16.7 | 2 1. 8 | ع م م | | | 56 | l an | Urban | | 11.4 | 14.8 | 6.04 | 18.6 | 5•3 | | 13.2 | 10.24 | 20.1 | 4.6 |
| CCIDENTS | | 19(| nale | Rural | 16.5 | 2 2 2 2 | - V4 | 13 13 | | 19(| nale | Rural | | 8.6 | 16.6 | 46.0 | 23.3 | 5.5 | | | | 22.2 | 6.1 |
| PERCENTAGE OF A | | | Fel | Urban | 13.8 | 11.7 | | ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | | | Fei | Urban | | 9.6 | 15.4 | 57.1 | 14.1 | 3•8 | | 11.3 | 1 / · / | 17.9 | 2.6 |
| THE | | | | | - 19 | 20 - 24 | 44 - 22 | | | | | | Driver 1 | - 19 | 20 - 24 | 25 - 44 | 42 - 64 | 65 - | Driver 2 | - 19 | 25 - 24 25 - 114 | き・き | 65 - |

| | | | le | Dark | 19.9 | 25.1 | 41.7 | 11.2 2.1 | | | le | Dark | | 15.0 | 17.8 | 0.44 | 19.4 | 3.8 | | 20 . 8 | 15.0 | | 5.6 T |
|----------------------|----------|-----|---------|-------|------|---------------------|--------|-------------------------------|----------------|-----|-------------|-------|------|-------------|--------|--------|--------|-------------|-------|---------------|----------------------|------------|---------------|
| OF | | 1, | Ma | Light | 18.4 | 17.0 | 35.8 | 22 . 2 6 . 6 | | 1 | Ma | Llght | | 11.7 | 14.2 | 38.8 | 26.3 | 0° 6 | | 12.6 | 1. 2. 2. 2. | | 2.02 |
| ATEGORY | | 197 | le B | Dark | 18.8 | 20.5 | 39.4 | 18.9 2.4 | | 197 | ale | Dark | | 13.1 | 21.4 | 44.1 | 21.4 | • | | 24.1 | 22 A | 34.0 | 17.0 |
| IN EACH C | ehicle | | Fen | Light | 19.0 | 14.6 | 40.9 | 21.9 3.6 | Veh1cle | | Fen | Light | | 6.6 | 16.9 | 38.3 | 28.0 | 6•9 | | 14.5 | 12.7 | 46.1 | 24.1 |
| SEX WITH | Single V | | | Dark | 20.0 | 27.8 | 41.0 | 10.0 1.2 | ultiple | | - | Dark | | 12.8 | 16.3 | 51.7 | 15.3 | 3.9 | | 12.4 | 18.5 | 46.3 | 3.1 |
| POR EACH LIGHT CC | | 6 | Male | Llght | 16.3 | 17.5 | 41.2 | 18 . 4 6.6 | | 9 | Male | Light | | 10.3 | 14.3 | 44.1 | 23.2 | 8.1 | | 11.3 | 13.2 | 44.S | 21.8 |
| CIDBNTS | | 196 | ale | Dark | 17.8 | 20.2 | 41.7 | 17.9 2.4 | | 196 | B le | Dark | | 6 •4 | 14.1 | 60.0 | 16.5 | • | | 13.6 | 19.8 | 42.4 | 1.5 |
| AGE OF AG | | | Геп | Light | 14.5 | 12.2 | 45.7 | 23.5 4.1 | | | Per | Light | | 8.1 | 15.9 | 48.9 | 20.2 | 6.9 | | 10.8 | 12.3 | 51.5 | 20•0 2•4 |
| E PERCENT | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| HL | | | | | - 19 | :0 - 2 4 | 5 - 44 | 1 2 4 2 1 2 2 | | | | | er l | - 19 | 0 - 24 | 5 - 44 | 5 - 54 | ر ا | 'er 2 | - 19 | 0 - 24 | 5-15 | 1 2 2 2 |
| | | | | | | 3 | 2 | 40 | | | | | Drlv | | 2 | 2 | 4 | 9 | Dr1v | | 3 | N . | 20 |

strong consistency, with female drivers of less than five years experience having a disproportionately large number of accidents compared to male drivers with the same amount of experience. It is unfortunate that the relation could not be tested by replication. However, in the face of the consistency of the 1966 data the inference that a true relationship as described above does exist seems reasonable.

TABLE 23

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF EXPERIENCE

| | ويتحمه مودورة ووجوه متجموعي محاكا ويهد | |
|---|--|---------------------|
| | Single Ver | icle |
| | 196 | 6 |
| | Female | Male |
| Less than one year One to five years More than five years | 8.0 35.9 56.1 | 5.0 28.8 66.2 |
| | Multiple V | ehicle |
| | 196 | 6 |
| | Female | Male |
| Driver 1 | | |
| Less than one year One to five years More than five years | 3.8 32.6 63.6 | 2.4 19.0 78.6 |
| Driver 2 | | |
| Less than one year | 6.0 | 2.7 |
| More than five years | 29 . 1 64 . 9 | 79.7 |

For the 1966 sample of single vehicle accidents, a tendency was shown for inexperienced females to differ from inexperienced males more extensively in urban settings than rural settings. This was not the case in multiple vehicle accidents. These results are found in table 24. Likewise the same sex difference is more pronounced in the daytime

TABLE 24

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF EXPERIENCE WITHIN LOCATIONS

| | Single | Vehicle | |
|---|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| | 19 | 66 | |
| Fei | nale | Ma | le |
| Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Less than one year 8.1 One to five years 36.4 More than five years 55.5 | 7.8 33.4 58.8 | 4.1 25.6 70.3 | 5.3 30.0 64.7 |

Multiple Vehicle

| | Fen | ale | Ma | le |
|----------------------|------|-------|-------|-------|
| U | rban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | |
| Less than one year | 2.8 | 5.1 | 2.5 | 1.9 |
| One to five years | 31.2 | 32.6 | 19.3 | 19.2 |
| More than five years | 66.0 | 62.3 | 78.2 | 78.9 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| Less than one year | 6.4 | 5.8 | 3.3 | 2.3 |
| One to five years | 33.6 | 24.7 | 20.6 | 17.4 |
| More than five years | 60.0 | 69.5 | 76.1 | 80.3 |

than at night for single vehicle accidents. The difference between day and night is much less pronounced in multiple vehicle accidents. These results are presented in table 25.

To help clarify the age and experience relationship, proportions of each sex and age level within levels of experiences are found in table 26. It can be seen that mid-

TABLE 25

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF EXPERIENCE WITHIN LIGHT CONDITIONS

| | | Single ' | Vehicle | | |
|--------------------|-------|--------------|---------|--------------|--|
| | | 19 | 66 | | |
| | Fem | ale | Male | | |
| | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | |
| Less than one year | 9.1 | 4.6 | 6.1 | 4.3 | |
| One to five years | 33.9 | 40.0 55 H | 21.9 | 34.3 61 4 | |

Multiple Vehicle

| | Fen | ale | Ma | 1e |
|----------------------|------|------|-------|-------|
| I | ight | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Driver l | | | | |
| Less than one year | 1.9 | 8.3 | 2.3 | 2.3 |
| One to five years | 33.0 | 26.4 | 18.1 | 20.1 |
| More than five years | 65.1 | 65.3 | 79.6 | 77 •7 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| Less than one year | 6.2 | 6.3 | 2.7 | 3.1 |
| One to five years | 27.9 | 35.9 | 17.1 | 21.5 |
| More than five years | 65.9 | 57.8 | 80.2 | 75.4 |

| CF | | | <i>5</i> • | 2.41 | 59.2 | 20 .1 5.4 | | | | <i>.</i> | | ۍ ۲ | × × • × • | 26.7 | 8•2 | ×. | | 20°0 20°0 | 8.3 |
|----------------------------|----------------|--------|---------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------------|-----------|-----|--------|---------------|----------|--------|--|---------|------------|------------------|---------|--------------------|------|
| CA TEGORY | | Male | 1 - 5 | 49.8 111. 5 | | 1.0 .3 | | | Male | 1 - 5 | | 40°1 | ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | ~ | • | 46.2 | 41.5 | 8.0 9.0 | 4. |
| CHIN EACH (| Vehicle 966 | | - 1 | 78.5 | 6.2 6.2 | 1.5 | • Vehicle | 966 | | - 1 | | 75.0 | ~~ • • | 9.4 | • | 82.5 | 0 | 2 C V V | 2.5 |
| H SEX WIT | Single 19 | | 5 | 9° 1 | 59.2 | 31.8 3.9 | Multiple | 10 | | <i>5</i> • | | | 62.7 | 25.0 | 6.4 | ۲ • | 5.5 | 61.3 26.3 | 6.2 |
| POR EAC | | Female | 1 - 5 | 29.0 34.4 | 31.2 | \$ • | | | Female | 1 - 5 | | 19.8 | | 8 | • | 31.0 | 32.2 | 33. • • | .1 |
| GE OF ACCIDENTS AGE WIT | | | • 1 | 57.1 | 0.6 7.6 | 19.1 | | | | - 1 | | 72.7 | 9.1 18.2 | 0 | • | 38.8 | 11.1 | 38 . 9 | 5.6 |
| THE PERCENTA | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | - 19 | 20 - 74 25 - 44 | 45 - 64 65 - 64 | | | | | Driver l | - 19 | 25 = 144 25 = 144 | 42 - 64 | 65 - | Dr1ver 2 - 19 | 20 - 24 | 25 - 44 45 - 54 | 65 - |

dle-aged females have relatively more accidents than middleaged males within the inexperienced category. This difference is quite large. This is true for both single and multiple vehicle accidents.

The only significant analysis of the variable "registration" crossed with sex was of the data from 1966 single vehicle accidents. Table 27 presents the proportions of accidents for each year.

TABLE 27

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF REGISTRATION

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|---------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Instate Outstate | 98.6 1.4 | 95.2 4.8 | 94.3 5.7 | 94.7 5.3 |

The relationship in the 1966 single vehicle data shows females to be associated with "instate". However, the 1971 single vehicle data contradict this result; hence, no conclusion can be drawn. This likewise is true for the multiple vehicle data, since none of the analyses were significant.

Driver Behavior

The variable "speed violation" crossed with sex yielded significant chi square values for all six analyses. The results in terms of proportions are presented in table 28. In all cases male drivers have relatively more accidents involving a speed violation than female drivers. The relation is not as strong for multiple as for single vehicle accidents, nonetheless it can be assumed to be reliable for both types of accidents.

TABLE 28

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF SPEED VIOLATICN

| | Single V | Tehicle | | |
|---------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------------------|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Speed violation No speed violation | 41.8 58.2 | 52.5 47.5 | 37.4 62.6 | 49.4 50.6 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 1966 | | 1971 | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver l | | | | |
| Speed violation No speed violation | 11.6 88.4 | 19.9 80.1 | 7•3 92•7 | 14.6 85.4 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| Speed violation No speed violation | 8.6 91.4 | 12.7 87.3 | 7•5 92•5 | 15.2 84.8 |
| | | | | |

The breakdown of the speed violation proportions within the sexes for urban and rural accidents is found in table 29. It can be seen that the relationship between the two variables is unaltered by this analysis. The analysis within light conditions for single vehicle accidents did have the effect of reducing the sex difference, though not eliminating it. The relationships for multiple vehicle accidents were not altered to any degree. These results may be found in table 30.

Table 31 contains the proportions of the variable "right-of-way violation" crossed with sex of the driver for multiple vehicle accidents. No significant relationship was found between these two variables in the single vehicle data, while all data except driver two for 1971 yielded significant ohi squares in multiple vehicle accidents. On all multiple vehicle analyses there were proportionately more accidents involving a female driver and a right-of-way violation than accidents involving a male driver and the same violation. Thus, a reliable relationship can be imferred for multiple vehicle accidents. When multiple vehicle accidents were examined for urban and rural accidents separately, the relationship between the two variables remained very similar. These results can be seen in table 32.

The analyses of sex crossed with the following violations all yielded non-significant chi square values both for single and multiple vehicle accidents for both years:

| THE PERCEN | TAGE OF A | CCIDENTS VIOLAT | POR EAC | H SEX WIT | HIN EACH (| CATEGCRY | OF | |
|---|--------------|--------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19(| 56 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | Pe | bale | M | le | Per | bale | Ma | • |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Speed violation No speed violation | 25.5 74.5 | 47.9 52.1 | 33.9 66.1 | 61.5 38.5 | 28.7 71.3 | 45.9 54.1 | 36.3 63.7 | 61.5 38.5 |
| | | | | Mult1ple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19(| 56 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | Per | M le | Ma | le | Pe | uale | Ma | 9 |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rure l | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Driver l Speed violation No speed violation | 10.9 89.1 | 12.8 87.2 | 15.3 84.7 | 23.4 76.6 | 5°4 94°6 | 13.3 86.7 | 13.0 87.0 | 18.2 81.8 |
| Driver 2 Speed violation No speed violation | 4.6 95.4 | 11.7 88.3 | 9•9 90•1 | 14.8 85.2 | 6.4 93.6 | 11.0 89.0 | 10.0 90.0 | 15.6 84.4 |

TABLE 29

79

| THE PERCEN | TAGE OF A | CCIDENTS I OLATION | FOR EAC WITHIN | H SEX WIT LIGHT CON | HIN EACH | CA TEGORY | OF | |
|---|--------------|-----------------------|---------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|--------------|--------------|
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Fei | nale | M | le | Pei | bale | Ma | le |
| | Light | Dark | Llght | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Speed violation No speed violation | 33.3 | 58.3 41.7 | 40.9 59.1 | 61.7 38.3 | 33 . 3 66.7 | 45.7 54.3 | 35.7 64.3 | 62.3 37.7 |
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Pe | na le | Ma | le | Pei | Dale | Ma | le |
| | L1ght | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Llght | Dark |
| Driver 1 Speed violation No speed violation | 10.3 89.7 | 14.1 85.1 | 19.5 80.5 | 20.6 79.4 | 7.5 92.5 | 6.9 93.1 | 12.5 87.5 | 18.3 81.7 |
| Driver 2 Speed violation No speed violation | 8.4 91.6 | 7.6 92.4 | 11.2 88.8 | 15.2 84.8 | 7.0 93.0 | 7.5 92.5 | 10.3 89.7 | 14.4 85.6 |

TABLE 30

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF RIGHT-OF-WAY VIOLATION

| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
|--------------|----------|---------|--------|-----------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | '1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver l | | _ | | |
| Violation | 20.3 | 16.0 | 23.6 | 18.8 |
| No violation | 79.7 | 84.0 | 76.4 | 81.2 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| Violation | 23.0 | 15.4 | 22.2 | 19.6 |
| No violation | 77.0 | 84.6 | 77.8 | 80.4 |

| | | RIGHT-OF | -WAY VIO | LATION | ITHIN LOC | ATI ONS | | | |
|--|------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------------------|--------------|
| | | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | | 196 | Q | | | 197 | Ч | |
| | | Pen | ale | l aN | Ð | Fen | ale | [Wa] | Ð |
| | | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Right-of-way No violation | violation | 24.4 75.6 | 15.2 84.8 | 17.5 82.5 | 15.0 85.0 | 25.2 74.8 | 19.2 80.8 | 19.9 80.1 | 16.2 83.8 |
| Driver 2 Right-of-way No violation | violation | 21.6 78.4 | 20.6 79.4 | 17.3 82.7 | 14.0 86.0 | 22.6 | 22.0 78.0 | 21.1 78.9 | 15.9 84.1 |
| | | | | | | | | | |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF

Following-too-close Passing violation Turning violation

Traffic control violation

Because of the non-significant chi square values, no relation between sex and any of these variables can be inferred. However, it may be faulty to assume that no relationship actually exists since all of the violations were small in number compared to the total number of accidents.

Analyses were done by putting all violations other than speeding or drinking into one category, making the other category the absence of any non-alcohol or nonspeeding violation associated with the accident. Table 33 contains the proportions of each sex for each category. The analyses for single vehicle accidents were indefinate. The analysis of 1966 data proved significant, but in a direction opposite that of the non-significant 1971 data. For multiple vehicle accidents, the differences between the sexes were all in the same direction, with female drivers having a relatively greater proportion of accidents involving a violation other than speeding or drinking than male drivers. Even though only three of the four analyses were significant, in the face of this consistency it seems safe to conclude a reliable difference between the sexes of this nature for multiple vehicle accidents does exist.

All analyses of the variable "alcohol" crossed with sex were highly significant. The proportions presented in

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF VIOLATION OTHER THAN SPEEDING OR DRINKING

| | Single V | Vehicle | | | |
|---------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | '1 | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | |
| Violation No violation | 15.2 84.8 | 9.0 91.0 | 16.0 84.0 | 18.4 81.6 | |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 1971 | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | |
| Driver 1 Violation No violation | 76.1 23.9 | 74.6 25.7 | 83.0 17.0 | 79.0 21.0 | |
| Driver 2 Violation No violation | 80.1 19.9 | 74.6 25.4 | 83.0 17.0 | 77.0 23.0 | |

table 34 make it very evident that in all cases male drivers were found relatively more frequently in both the "drunk" and "drinking" categories than female drivers. The inference can be made that this is a reliable relationship.

TABLE 34

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF ALCOHOL

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|--------------------|----------------------|
| | 196 | 56 | 197 | ' 1 |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Not drinking Drinking Drunk | 89.9 9.2 .9 | 63.2 27.7 9.1 | 87.1 12.4 .5 | 60.5 29.5 10.0 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | וי |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| Driver l | | | | |
| Not drinking | 96.2 | 84.3 | 94.4 | 83.2 |
| Drinking | 3.5 | 11.1 | 5.2 | 13.5 |
| Drunk | •3 | 4.6 | •4 | 3.3 |
| Driver 2 | | | | |
| Not drinking | 95.7 | 84.5 | 96.1 | 83.8 |
| Drinking | 3.6 | 11.0 | 3.4 | 13.7 |
| Drunk | •7 | 4.5 | •5 | 2.5 |
| | | | | |

The relationship remained consistent and strong when accidents were further separated into urban and rural locations, and proportions calculated separately. These results can be seen in table 35. When accidents are divided by light condition, males continue to be found more often in the drinking and drunk categories than females; however, the sex difference is considerably stronger in accidents happening at night. These results are found in table 36.

The "sleep" variable crossed with sex yielded significant chi squares for both analyses of the single vehicle data and three of the four analyses of multiple vehicle data. The data in terms of proportions are presented in table 37. The data from all six conditions are consistent in showing male drivers to be guilty of having relatively more accidents involving sleep than female drivers. It appears safe to conclude that this is a reliable difference between the sexes. The chi square analyses indicate a stronger relationship in the single vehicle data than in the multiple vehicle data. Analyses were not done within light conditions because very few accidents involved sleep in the daytime.

All of the analyses of the variable "speed" crossed with sex were significant. The proportions of all six sets of data are presented in table 38. For all data, females have proportionately more accidents at lower speeds, while males take precidence at higher speeds. The significant chi square values, coupled with the strong consistency of the proportions, leaves little doubt as to the validity of the conclusion that male drivers had a greater propor-

| THE PE | RCENTAGE OF A | CCIDENTS | POR BAC | H SEX WIT | HIN EACH | CA TEGORY | OF | |
|--------------------------|---------------|--------------|------------|--------------|----------|----------------|-----------------------|---------------|
| | | ALCOHOL | NITHIN L | OCATIONS | | | | |
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 197 | 71 | |
| | Pe! | ua le | Ma | le | Pei | male | Ma | le |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Not drinking Detablac | 91.3 x | 88.4 1 | 70.4 | 59.4 22 2 | 87.3 | 88.0 10.0 | 66 . 0 27 3 | 59.9 36.4 |
| Drunk | 50 CA | 1 2 2 | 10.9 | 8. | 0.31 | 1.1 | 6.9 | 3.7 |
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19(| 56 | | | 191 | 17 | |
| | Pe1 | bale | Ma | le | Pe. | male | Ma | e |
| | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura 1 | Urban | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Not drinking | 9 4 •9 | 97.2 | 84.3 | 84.7 | 94°1 | 9 * • 6 | 82.0 | 86 . 8 |
| UTINKING Drunk | + • • • | 00 | 7.3 7.3 | 1.4 | ~~~ | 10 10 | | 2.02 |
| Driver 2 | | | | | | | | Ì |
| Not drinking Drinking | 96.3 2.0 | 95.7 | 87.8 | 89.0 8.5 | 100.0 | 96 . 0 | 83.8 13.5 | 84.6 11.3 |
| Drunk | ~ | 0 | 2.0 | 8.2 | 0 | | 5.2 | 4.1 |

| THE PE | RCENTAGE OF A | CCIDENTS OHOL WIT | POR RACI | I SEX WITH CONDITIO | IIN EACH | CATEGORY | 0 | |
|--------------------------|---------------|----------------------|----------|------------------------|----------|------------|----------------|--------------|
| | | | | Single V | ehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 197 | I, | |
| | Pe | bale | Å | le | Pe | male | Ma | e |
| | Llght | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Not drinking | 96.0 | 65.2 | 84.6 | 43.2 | 95.5 | 75.0 | 83.8 | 44.8 |
| Drinking Drunk | | 31.8 3.0 | 11.3 | 43.1 13.7 | 4 - | 24.1 .9 | 13.3 2.9 | 48°4 6°8 |
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 197 | ľ | |
| | Per | male | Ma | le | Pe | male | (Wa) | e |
| | Llght | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Driver 1 | | | - | | 5 | 0 10 | 6 00 | 5 2 2 |
| Not drinking Drinking | 90•0 1.4 | 10.8 | ×0. | 19.5 | 2.0 | 13.4 | ~ 8 · 5 | 26.8 |
| Drunk | • | 1.5 | 2.9 | 2.2 | ŗ | -7 | 1.5 | 5.1 |
| Driver 2 Not drinking | 96.2 | 92.6 2.6 | 6.66 | 78.0 | 100.0 | 96.0 | 92.8 6.4 | 69.9 24.7 |
| Drunk Drunk | 0.80 | ••• | 1. | 1.7 | 00 | | 8 | 5.4 |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF SLEEP

| | Single V | ehicle | | | | |
|-------------------------------|-------------|-------------|--|-------------|--|--|
| | 196 | 6 | 1971 | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | | |
| Sleep No sleep | 1.7 98.3 | 5•5 94•5 | 2.0 98.0 | 7.1 92.9 | | |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | <u>an a</u> n <u>an an an an ann an an an an an an an an</u> | | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 1971 | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | | |
| Driver l Sleep No sleep | •3 99•7 | 1.2 98.8 | •6 99•4 | 2.8 97.2 | | |
| Driver 2 Sleep No sleep | .0 100.0 | 1.3 98.7 | .4 99.6 | 2.2 97.8 | | |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF SPEED

| | Single V | Vehicle | | |
|--|--|--|---|--|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ני |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male |
| $\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$ | 5.9 12.8 27.2 25.5 20.7 6.0 1.7 | 5.1 7.8 16.0 23.5 25.8 14.9 5.6 1.3 | 16.4 16.7 22.8 17.0 15.8 8.8 1.4 1.1 | 12.0 12.5 16.4 21.0 19.0 12.0 5.4 1.7 |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | ני |
| | Female Male | | Female | Male |
| Driver 1 0 = 10 11 = 20 21 = 30 31 = 40 41 = 50 51 = 60 61 = 70 71 = 100 | 12.0 16.8 15.5 21.8 22.4 7.2 4.0 .3 | 9.4 13.7 11.9 17.8 22.1 16.5 6.8 1.8 | 17.6 29.5 19.6 16.1 10.7 4.5 1.8 .2 | 14.5 24.0 15.0 17.6 15.2 8.6 3.7 1.4 |
| Driver 2 0 = 10 11 = 20 21 = 30 31 = 40 41 = 50 51 = 60 61 = 70 71 = 0 | 14.2 19.9 14.5 23.6 14.9 8.1 4.1 .7 | 13.2 14.1 11.1 19.0 21.6 14.4 5.5 1.1 | 16.0 28.1 21.0 16.4 10.7 5.3 2.5 .0 | 14.3 21.8 16.8 17.8 15.6 8.7 3.6 1.4 |

tion of their accidents at higher speeds than female drivers.

The speed and sex relationship was further examined within locations and within light conditions. For these analyses, speed was subdivided into three larger categories. The relationship remained of similar magnitude within locations. Within light conditions, however, the difference between the sexes tended to be reduced. Males nonetheless remained more frequently involved in accidents at higher speeds than females in all conditions. These results are found in tables 39 and 40.

Weather Variables

Both analyses of the single vehicle accidents were significant for the variable "weather". Only one of the multiple vehicle analyses was significant. The results in terms of proportions are presented in table 41. In single vehicle accidents for both years, females demonstrated a relatively greater number of accidents in rainy and snowy weather, while male drivers were relatively higher in the "clear" and "foggy" categories. The inference can be made that a reliable difference exists between the sexes of this nature for single vehicle accidents. No conclusion can be made for the multiple vehicle data.

The proportions of both sexes for the various weather conditions within locations are found in table 42. Snow is definately shown to be more prevalent for females

| | | | | le | Rural | 24.0 | 39.9 | 1.0(| | | le | Rura l | | 52 . 1 | 14.9 | | 52 . 9 | 16.5 |
|----------|-------------|----------|-----|-------------|-------|--------|---------|------|----------|-----|------|--------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------------|----------|---------------|-------------------|
| | OF | | 1 | Ma | Urban | 62.1 | 26.9 | 0.11 | | 1 | Ma | Urban | | 80.5 | 3. | , | 29.6 | 3.1 |
| | ATEGORY | | 197 | ale | Rural | 4.1.4 | 33.5 | 1.62 | | 197 | ale | Rural | | 60°0 | 11.3 | | 62 . 0 | 5.6 4.0 |
| | IIN EACH (| 'ehlcle | | Ред | Urban | 75.8 | 19.6 | 0.4 | Vehicle | | Per | Urban | | 91•5 2 | 0.0 | | 88°0 | 1.9 |
| ~ | I SEX WITH | Single V | | • | Rural | 16.7 | 56.0 | 21.3 | Mult1ple | | • | Rural | | 10 10 10 10 | 12.7 | | 40°4 | 6.6 |
| TABLE 35 | POR EACI | | 56 | Ma 1 | Urban | 57.2 | 33.7 | ۲۰۴ | | 56 | l em | Urban | | 66.8 20.8 | 2.00 | | 20.6 | 2.5 |
| | SPEED WI | | 19(| male | Rural | 35.0 | 50°6 | 9.4 | | 196 | nale | Rural | | 52.1 | | | 64.1 | 27.0 8.3 |
| | BNTAGE OF A | | | Pen | Urban | 79.2 | 19.5 | 1.3 | | | Fen | Urban | | 79.6 | 17.0 1.1 | | 81.5 | 2. 8.71 |
| | THE PERC | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | 0 - 30 | 30 - 50 | 50 - | | | | | Driver 1 | - 30 | 50 1 0 2 1 0 2 | Driver 2 | 0 - 30 | 50 - 50 2 - 50 |

-

| THE | PERCENTAGE OP A(SPI | CCIDENTS EED WITH | POR EAC IN LIGHT | H SEX WIT CONDITIC | CHIN EACH | CA TEGORY | 0 F | |
|-----|-------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 121 | |
| | Pe | male | Ma | le | Pe. | male | Ma | e |
| | Light | Dark | L1ght | Dark | Light | Dark | L1ght | Dark |
| | 57.0 | 20.0 | 40.6 | 17.9 | 59.5 | 55.1 | 53.2 | 29.7 |
| | 36.8 6.2 | 65 . 0 15 . 0 | 42.2 | 55.8 26.3 | 25•3 15•2 | 27.1 | 27.3 | 40.6 |
| | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Per | male | M | le | Pel | ma le | Ma | e |
| | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| | 68.9 | 62.8 | 54.8 | 50.9 | 83.1 | 85.2 | 72.2 | 68.2 |
| | 25.9 | 3.0 | 36.7 | 40.2 | 12.2 | 13.3 | 20.1 | 25.2 |
| | 5•2 | 2.6 | 8.5 | 8.et | 4.7 | 1.5 | 7.7 | 0 0 |
| | 70.5 | 79.0 | 59.2 33.6 | 54.2 39.1 | 82.7 14.3 | 78.5 18.6 | 73.1 18.9 | 66.8 26.1 |
| | | 1.6 | 2.2 | 6.2 | 9.0 | 2.9 | 8.0 | 7.1 |

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF WEATHER

| | Single V | ehicle | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | '1 | | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | | | | |
| Clear Rain Snow Fog | 72.3 14.5 11.1 2.1 | 81.4 8.9 6.0 3.7 | 78.3 10.0 9.7 2.0 | 84.1 8.2 5.2 2.5 | | | | |
| | Multiple | Vehicle | | | | | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 1971 | | | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | | | | |
| Driver 1 Clear Rain Snow Fog | 75.2 10.4 11.6 2.8 | 76.9 11.0 9.4 2.7 | 79.6 12.1 7.3 1.0 | 79.4 12.2 6.9 1.5 | | | | |
| Driver 2 Clear Rain Snow Fog | 77.9 9.5 11.1 1.5 | 76.4 11.2 9.5 2.9 | 87.7 3.1 8.6 .6 | 83.9 7.5 6.7 1.9 | | | | |

| | THE PERCENTAGE | S OP AC | CIDENTS EATHER | POR EAC | H SEX WITH DCATIONS | HIN EACH | CATEGORY | OF | |
|-------------|----------------|-------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|
| | | | | | Single 1 | Jehicle | | | |
| | | | 196 | 90 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | | Pe Di | ale | Ma | le | Fe 1 | male | Ma | le |
| | L | Jrban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Clear | J | 30.6 | 66.8 | 84.4 | 79.8 | 86.7 | 71.3 | 86.1 | 82.4 |
| Bain | | 8.6 | 16.8 | 7. 8 | 6 .6 | 8.8 | 10.7 | 2. 8 | 8° 8° |
| Snow Pog | | 9.7 1.1 | 13.4 3.0 | 5 5 5 | ¢.4 | с С | 14.0 3.4 | 3.9 | 2.7 |
| | | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | | 196 | 9 | | | 197 | 1 | |
| | | Pen | ale | M | e | Fel | nale | Ma | e |
| | | Jrban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura 1 |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Clear | | .8.7 | 71.7 | 81.7 | 73.6 | 82.7 | 70.8 | 79.4 | 78.9 |
| Rain | • | 0.6 | 10.7 | 11.4 | 20.01 | 12.2 | 11.7 | 14.3 | 0 0 0 |
| Snow Poe | | 1.3 | 13.2 | √ - - - | 12.4 3.5 | \$ • • • | 1.7 | ^@ ^ | 2 C |
| Triver 2 | | | | • |) | k | | | I |
| Clear | ~ | .8.9 | 76.9 | 81.5 | 72.6 | 84.5 | 80.4 | 29.3 | 76.9 |
| Rain | | ບີເ ທີ່- | ر ه ج | 10.4 | 11.5 2.11 | 0 V | ر. د د | 14•8 × > | 2.0 |
| Pog | | 5 | 5.9 7 | 1.8 | 3.7 | 6 | | | 3.2 |
| | | | | | | | | | |

in rural accidents than in urban accidents, relative to the male proportions in the two settings. This is also somewhat true for the rain category. In the multiple vehicle accidents, snow again appears to be more prevalent for females in rural locations.

The proportions for the relationship within light conditions are found in table 43. It can be seen that for single vehicle accidents, light condition made little difference. For multiple vehicle accidents, females were more often involved in accidents in snow in the darkness than males in all four analyses. There was very little difference between the sexes in the daylight within the snow category. None of the other categories showed much consistency.

Both chi square analyses of the variable "surface condition" crossed with sex for single vehicle accidents were highly significant. Two of the four multiple vehicle analyses were significant. The results are presented in terms of proportions in table 44. For the single vehicle accidents, female drivers tended to have proportionately more accidents in the presence of snowy road conditions for both years. This is likewise true of the two multiple vehicle conditions which exhibited significant relationships. The two sets of data which were not significant show little difference on snow. Since, however, they do not contradict the relation between female drivers and snow, it seems reasonable to conclude, though cautiously, that a relationship
TABLE 43

TABLE 44

THE PERCENTAGE OF ACCIDENTS FOR EACH SEX WITHIN EACH

CATEGORY OF SURFACE CONDITION

| | Single V | Vehicle | | | |
|--------------------|----------------------|----------------------|--|------|--|
| | 1966 1971 | | | | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | |
| Dry Wet Snow | 52.3 19.0 28.7 | 64.3 18.9 16.8 | 3 58.5 67. 9 19.5 17. 8 22.0 14. | | |
| <u></u> | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | 196 | 6 | 197 | 1 | |
| | Female | Male | Female | Male | |
| Driver l | | | | | |
| Dry | 55.2 | 61.5 | 60.8 | 57.8 | |
| Wet | 23.0 | 23.5 | 23.3 | 26.9 | |
| Snow | 21.8 | 15.0 | 15.9 | 15.3 | |
| Driver 2 | _ | | _ | | |
| Dry | 59.6 | 60.6 | 55.8 | 59.9 | |
| Wet | 22.1 | 23.6 | 23.1 | 25.9 | |
| Snow | ر ۲۵۰ | 12.0 | 21.1 | 14.2 | |

between sex and road condition does exist, with female drivers having relatively more accidents on snowy road surfaces and males having relatively more accidents under dry conditions. More confidence can be held in this conclusion for single vehicle accidents.

The analyses done within locations and within light conditions showed snowy roads more strongly related to females in rural than urban settings in single vehicle accidents. This was not consistently true for multiple vehicle accidents. Snow was likewise more pronounced for the multiple vehicle accidents of females after dark, while the results of the single vehicle accidents were mostly unaffected. These results can be found in tables 45 and 46.

| | THE PERCENTAGE S | OF AC | CIDENTS E CONDIT | FOR EAC | H SEX WITH | IIN EACH (| LA TEGORY | OF | |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------|----------------------|-----------|------------|----------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | | | | | Single V | leh1cle | | | |
| | | | 19(| <u>56</u> | | | 197 | 17 | |
| | | Pen | ale | AN. | le | Per | ale | Ma | • |
| | Gr | ban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rura 1 |
| A-A | 68 | | 1.44 | 65.9 | 62.7 | 65.2 | 55.1 | 68.1 | 68.2 |
| Wet Snow | 20 | ~~~ | 22 .1 33.8 | 19.0 | 19.7 | 21.0 13.8 | 17.1 27.8 | 19.7 12.2 | 16.2 15.6 |
| | | | | | Multiple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | | 196 | 9 | | | 197 | 11 | |
| | | Pep | ale | Ma | e | Pei | bale | Ma | • |
| | Ur | ban | Rura 1 | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural | Urban | Rural |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Dry | 45 | Ś | 56.1 | 62.1 | 60.2 | 63.4 | 54.1 | 56.2 | 62.1 |
| snow Snow | 20 | 0.0 | 10.3 25.6 | 10.5 | 21.3 | 12.2 | 19.2 26.7 | 13.0 | 21.1 |
| Driver 2 Dre | 5 | ſ | 7 2 7 | 62 6 | А Я А А | 54.2 | K0 7 | 0 08 | 60, c |
| uet Net | | < | | 26.1 | 55° | 20 20 20 20 | -8° | 50° | 18. |
| Snow | 15 | 2. | 21.7 | 11.3 | 2.6T | C•71 | C.UE | 0°11 | 1.12 |

TABLE 45

| | | | | 2 | | | | |
|-----------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|-----------------------|---------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | THE PERCENTAGE OF A SURFACE | CCI DENTS CONDITIO | POR EAC | H SEX WIT LIGHT CO | HIN EACH | CATEGORY | 90 | |
| | | | | Single | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | | male | A | le | Pel | male | Ma | le |
| | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| | 54.5 | 51.1 | 67.5 | 62.7 | 63.1 | 55.9 | 21.6 | 64°9 18 7 |
| Snow | 27.0 | 31.0 | 15.1 | 17.2 | 19.2 | 22.8 | 11.7 | 16.4 |
| | | | | Mult1ple | Vehicle | | | |
| | | 19 | 66 | | | 19 | 71 | |
| | Pe | male | A. | le | Pei | bale | Ma | le |
| | Llght | Dark | L1ght | Dark | Light | Dark | Light | Dark |
| Driver 1 | | | | | | | | |
| | 56.9 | 50.6 | 62 . 3 | 61.7 24.0 | 65 . 1 | 54.5 24.5 | 61.1 24.4 | 55.9 |
| Snow | 17.9 | 32.9 | 15.4 | 14.3 | 13.2 | 19.3 | 14.3 | 17.2 |
| Drlver 2 Dry | 0.45 | 42.4 | 60.5 | 62.2 | 60.1 | 4.8.8 | 61.7 | 56.5 |
| Wet Snow | 19.2 16.8 | 36.4 21.2 | 23.8 15.7 | 21.5 16.3 | 21.5 18.4 | 25.0 26.2 | 25.2 13.1 | 26.9 16.6 |

TABLE 46

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Time Variables

A very strong relationship between sex and both light condition and time of day for both types of accidents was exhibited by the data. These two variables are, of course, highly related; for time of day in large part determines the light conditions. although the correspondence is less than perfect due to seasonal variations and weather changes. The direction of the relationship, males having more accidents in the night-time and females having more during the day, is fully predictable from consideration of exposure differences. These variables differentiated the sexes more in the case of single vehicle accidents. This can be due to the fact that males drive relatively more at night, and single vehicle accidents are associated with night-time driving conditions. Further analysis of the light condition variable within urban and rural accidents showed that the sex difference was not an artifact of location differences, but rather held up within both types of location. Since the exposure hypothesis predicted real day - night driving differences, location was not expected to alter the relationship.

Exposure predicted that males would have more daytime accidents during the rush hours (7 - 9 AM and 4 - 6 PM) than female drivers, relative to all the daytime accidents. The data were consistently in line with this prediction.

The relationship between sex and day of the week proved to be stable and strong. Likewise, the inference that females have relatively more accidents on weekdays and men on weekends is fully in line with what is expected from exposure considerations.

Road Characteristics

The results of the variables classified as road characteristics are neither strong nor unambiguous. Nonetheless, certain interesting relationships do appear. The classification of the highway upon which the accident took place was unrelated to sex in the single vehicle accident data, with no evidence of any consistent pattern emerging. The same variable showed a significant relationship with sex on all multiple vehicle analyses. The pattern was fairly consistent for male drivers to have relatively more accidents on U. S. and state highways, while female drivers had relatively more accidents on county roads and city streets. The results of the multiple vehicle analyses are consistent with what would be expected by considering exposure alone. This researcher cannot see any reason why single vehicle data does not follow a similar pattern.

However, U. S. and state highways which go through and often are the main streets of communities are coded as U. S. or state highways when, in fact, they are city streets. Furthermore, county roads in the suburbs are quite different in characteristics from county roads in rural areas. This makes the interpretation of the highway classification variable highly ambiguous. In the presence of this ambiguity and in the absence of any reasonable alternative hypothesis at the present, no real case can be made for rejecting exposure as inadequate in the case of single vehicle accidents. But neither is the absence of a relationship of the type exhibited by the multiple vehicle data totally understandable. There is a definite need for further research or further analysis to explain these results.

Analyses of road geometry were nonsignificant for multiple vehicle accidents, however, there was a strong significance for single vehicle accidents. The difference between the sexes was largest in the ourve category, with males taking precedence. Males were also relatively higher in the grade-curve category, with female drivers being relatively higher in the grade and straight categories. These results could indicate that males leave the roadway on curves, thereby becoming victims of single vehicle mishaps relatively more frequently than females. The exposure hypothesis predicts this insofar as male drivers are expected to be found on highways where there are more likely to be

curves than female drivers. However, the data on the "highway classification" variable do not seem to show this to be true in single vehicle accidents although again the variable is quite ambiguous. It could be argued that the difference in the curve category is explainable by the fact that males drive more in rural areas where there are more curves, but when accidents were analyzed only within rural locations the sex difference increased rather than decreased. The same situation was true for accidents happening at night. A reasonable explanation then becomes that males tend to drive at higher speeds and more often after drinking than females. Both high speeds and alcohol are more prevalent in rural and night-time single vehicle accidents, thus leading to the actual sex difference in the curve category. The sex differences are smaller in urban and daytime single vehicle accidents and absent altogether in multiple vehicle accidents because alcohol and high speeds are not as prevalent in these situations.

The alternative explanation is that under the same circumstances, males are less able to successfully negotiate a curve than females. In the face of other research cited in this study, namely that in unusual circumstances female drivers display less skill, this explanation seems untenable. Under normal circumstances, drivers do not usually leave the road on a curve unless they are attempting to take the curve at an excessive speed or unless their ability is impaired such as with alcohol. Since males are

more often found at high speeds and with alcohol, it would appear reasonable to suggest that the sex difference on curves was caused by these other two variables.

No conclusion can be drawn from the data on road surface. There could be a weak relationship there with the small number of accidents on non-paved roads serving to obscure it. Exposure does not seem to predict any relationship between sex and this variable.

There were also a small number of accidents in the presence of a road defect. Despite this fact there is some evidence, though not strong, that female drivers do relatively more poorly in the presence of a road defect for both single and multiple vehicle accidents. A relationship of this sort is important because it is not predicted by exposure. There does not seem to be any reason to expect females to be driving in the presence of a road defect any more often than male drivers. This result suggests that female drivers are slightly less able to cope as adequately as male drivers in situations requiring greater than usual driving skill.

Location

That females have relatively more multiple vehicle accidents at intersections than males is predictable from exposure in terms of the locations in which the two seres tend to drive. This implies that within locations, the seres should have a very similar proportion of accidents at

intersections. Such was the case for urban accidents, but female drivers were involved more often in intersection accidents within rural areas also. The fact that in urban accidents the sexes were very similar seems to preclude any explanation in terms of driving ability at intersections. It is quite frankly difficult to understand the rural difference. The most reasonable explanation seems to be differential driving habits of the two sexes. Females may have tended to drive in rural areas containing more intersections than male drivers. It does not seem reasonable to reject the exposure hypothesis.

Intersections did not differentiate the sexes in single vehicle accidents. This is reasonable since when only one vehicle is involved an intersection is not much more likely to contain an accident than any other comparably length stretch of road. Single vehicle accidents are not as dependent upon high traffic volume.

Men were shown to have relatively more rural accidents than female drivers at a significant level. This result held up for daylight and night-time accidents. The small but apparently reliable difference is in the direction predicted by exposure.

Collision Characteristics

For the variable "direction analysis" only the four multiple vehicle analyses were significant. The categories "same direction" and "entering from an angle" exhibited a

strong consistency, with males being relatively higher in the former, and females in the latter. Since females are more likely to be involved in an accident at an intersection, they would be expected to be relatively higher in the "entering from an angle" category within rural accidents. However, this result was also exhibited in urban accidents. Since most same direction accidents must be rear end accidents, males must be more likely to have rear-end collisions than females. The reason for this is not clear. It could be a resultant of the tendency for males to drive at higher speeds; and, hence, be less able to stop in time. It could also be caused by poorer visibility at night, since the data show that same direction accidents are more likely to happen at night than entering from an angle accidents. Since male drivers are also associated with night, this would lead to the relationship which has been found. The male proportion being higher in this category naturally forces the female proportion to be higher elsewhere. This is perhaps why females were higher in entering from an angle for urban as well as rural accidents. Also the data have shown females to be proportionately more often guilty of a right-of-way violation in multiple vehicle accidents than males in urban as well as rural accidents. This could be the cause of the higher female proportion of entering from an angle accidents, or the result of it, since a high correlation between right-of-way violations and entering from an angle accidents is to be expected.

The validity of these explanations is less than obvious. However, the competing explanation is that males are less adroit at stopping their vehicles than are females under similar conditions and / or females are more likely to ignore a traffic signal at an intersection than males. This explanation seems perhaps less valid than the one put forth above, which is in line with the exposure hypothesis. The least which can be said is that the evidence is not great enough to reject the hypothesis at this point.

There is very little which can be said concerning the "fatal" variable. It is predicted that males would be relatively more likely to be involved in fatal accidents than females. Male drivers were involved in proportionately more fatal accidents than females, however, the number of fatal accidents was too small for any analysis to reach significance. Hence, no conclusion can be made.

Vehicle Characteristics

There seems to be little which needs to be said concerning this class of variables. The high significance of "vehicle type" is, of course, easily explainable in terms of exposure. Females just do not typically drive anything but passenger cars. Both "vehicle defect" and "vision obscured" were rare in occurrence, and furthermore there is little theoretical reason to expect the sexes to differ on either of these two variables.

Driver Characteristics

Sex and age were unrelated for multiple vehicle accidents, but inexperienced females and experienced male drivers had a disproportionate number of accidents. The same relationship on the experience variable held for single vehicle accidents, but age exhibited a consistent relationship with sex, with young male drivers (under 25) and middle-aged female drivers (25 to 64) having relatively more accidents. The differences in the over 65 category were very slight.

This inconsistency between the age and experience variables is easily explainable by the fact that females in the sample were much more likely to begin driving at a more advanced age than males. This can be seen very plainly in the analyses of sex and age within levels of experience. The tendency for more and more females to begin driving at all probably at least partially explains the sex difference and experience. There were probably a greater proportion of inexperienced females relative to all female drivers in the driving population than the same ratio for males.

It is also possible that part of the sex difference on the experience variable is because females drive less than males. If it is assumed that safe driving ability increases as a function of the amount of actual driving time, rather than the elapsed time since obtaining a license to drive, one year of experience for an average male means more actual driving experience than one year of experience for an average female. This would result in the expectation that inexperienced females (in terms of years driving) would have a higher accident rate than inexperienced males.

The analyses for the age variable leave two unanswerable questions. First, why are females in the 20 to 24 year age group involved in proportionately more accidents than males in multiple vehicle accidents? Such was not the case for single vehicle accidents. Exposure predicts the opposite since it was thought that young males drive disproportionately more than young females. This also contradicts the research findings of Lauer⁴² and Swanson. et al., 43 although as was mentioned, the methods by which these studies controlled for mileage are highly questionable. Secondly, what causes the sex difference in single vehicle accidents and not in multiple vehicle accidents? The evidence points away from a third variable being responsible. Sex differences were manifested over both levels of location and both levels of light condition for single vehicle accidents. This would not be the case if either of these variables were responsible for the dif-

> ⁴²Lauer, <u>op. cit</u>. ⁴³Swanson, <u>et al.</u>, <u>op. cit</u>.

ference. Furthermore, since both the presence of alcohol and high speeds are related to rural locations and nighttime, if either of these variables were responsible, larger sex differences would be expected at night and in rural locations. Thus, this variable is in need of further research. At this point all that can be said is that past research was only replicated in part and the exposure theory was only validated in part. No alternative explanation appears readily evident.

The small and questionable relationship between sex and registration is easily explainable by exposure considerations. The reason for the weakness of the results probably lies in the fact that there were relatively few outstate drivers in the sample. It can only be concluded that these results did not contradict the exposure hypothesis.

Driver Behavior

The strong tendency for males to be more often guilty of a speeding violation than females is not predictable from exposure differences. If the relationship were explainable either because males drive more at night or more in rural areas, the analyses done within locations and within light conditions would be expected to show little or no sex differences. Such was not the case. The sex differences were respectably large in each analysis. Thus, it appears that the tendency for males to be more

often guilty of a speeding violation is not explainable by exposure. On the other hand, it does not seem reasonable that this difference is explainable by differences in driving ability, i.e., that males drive more poorly when they are violating the legal limit than females when they are violating the legal limit. It seems much more likely that cultural roles, expectations, etc., lead men to do more speeding than women. In many segments of society speeding is considered acceptable and even sometimes desirable masculine behavior, while accepted feminine behavior does not include driving an automobile at excessive speeds.

The previous discussion of intersections and direction analysis is quite relevant to the right-of-way violation variable. If exposure were the explanation for the small relationship of females and right-of-way violations, analyses of these two variables within locations should show little or no sex differences. However, the sex difference did hold up within each location. As with the intersection and direction analysis variables, no explanation for these results is readily available.

As for the other violations, it is unfortunate, but apparently true that the frequency of such violations was in all cases too small to find any relationships, if indeed any exist.

When all the non-alcohol and non-speeding violations were grouped together into one category, with the absence of any such violation in the other, data from sin-

gle vehicle accidents were inconclusive, while the multiple vehicle data exhibited a small but reliable tendency for females to have more non-speeding or drinking violations. This is in line with what is predicted from exposure differences. The reason that the single vehicle results were ambiguous is probably because these violations are rarer in single vehicle accidents and less relevant.

The sex differences on the alcohol, speed, and sleep variables were all large and consistent. The sex difference on sleep is easily explainable in terms of the tendency for males to drive more during the late-night hours. The exposure theory predicted males to have a disproportionate number of accidents with alcohol. That this difference holds up within locations and light conditions gives strength to the conclusion that the sexes are differentiated by alcohol and the results are not an artifact of another variable. The added strength of the sex difference on alcohol within night-time accidents is no doubt a result of the pronounced tendency for alcohol to be more often present in night-time driving.

The tendency for male drivers to have accidents at higher speeds than female drivers also held up within locations and light conditions. Part of the apparent sex difference on speed was shown to be a result of the mutual relation each of these variables had with the light condition variable. However, a sex difference was still in evidence within light conditions. As with the case of the

related speed violation variable, this consistent difference is not explainable by exposure, but rather males do apparently drive faster than females other things being equal. Again, cultural role differences between the sexes seems most adequate to explain this driving difference.

Weather Variables

Both the "weather" variable and the highly related "surface condition" variable showed females to be involved in a higher than expected number of accidents in snow conditions for single vehicle accidents and to a lesser extent for multiple vehicle accidents. The results of the analysis within locations and light conditions for these two variables generally gave indication of a larger sex difference on snowy roads and in snowy weather at night and in rural locations, with females having a higher proportion in each case.

These results do not seem predictable by exposure, for by and large snow is evenly distributed over all times and areas. In fact exposure leads to the opposite prediction, since females may be less likely to drive during bad weather conditions. The relationship between female drivers and snow add credence to the previously stated hypothesis that female drivers tend to be more vulnerable to situations requiring more than a usual amount of driving skill. Although snow is not infrequent in Michigan, it seems reasonable to consider driving during falling snow or snowy road conditions as presenting an especially stressful situation. This would seem to be especially true of night-time driving and the higher speeds and oftentimes poorer roads of rural areas. It is hard to see any reason for suspecting females drive more in snowy weather in these conditions than males. It is more reasonable to suggest safe driving ability difference. The high demands for skill which a snow-covered road often makes on a driver, particularly at night and in rural locations, were apparently more frequently met by male drivers than female drivers.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

Many statistically significant and replicated differences between male and female automobile drivers both for single and multiple vehicle accidents have been found and reported in this study. The overall model or hypothesis adopted at the outset was that all of these differences were potentially explainable in terms of driving exposure differences between the sexes. Many of the differences were indeed explainable in this manner. There were some exceptions, however.

Females were found to be positively related to road defects and snowy weather. Either of these results standing alone would not be sufficient to cast much doubt on the exposure hypothesis. However, in combination with results of previous studies they indicate that there may very well be something else going on.

In Pennsylvania Turnpike accidents, Blotzer, et al., found females were relatively more often in the categories they named "deficiencies in routine driving skills" and "failure to cope with road conditions".⁴⁴ Penn found females to be guilty of "faulty driving" more frequently than

⁴⁴Blotzer, <u>et al.</u>, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 37.

male drivers.⁴⁵ In the presence of an unexpected motor scooter, Uhr found female drivers to be markedly more likely to make a dangerous and inappropriate response than males.⁴⁶ Baker found females less able to successfully cope with flat tires while driving.⁴⁷

There seems to be a definite common thread running through these results. / All indicate that female drivers tend to have more accidents in the presence of stressful conditions, in other words, all indicate that female drivers are more likely to make an inappropriate response when driving in a situation requiring added skill. / Blotzer, et. al., explained his results in terms of the way drivers learn to cope with stressful situations. They suggested that since this knowledge is not really taught and not required to obtain an operator's license, drivers must learn from experience. //Since females tend to drive less frequently under stressful conditions they learn more slowly.

There may be other reasons for this sex difference. Two areas, the psychological and the physiological, seem most promising. Physically, men are of course, generally stronger, but this probably makes little difference with

⁴⁵Penn, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 3.
⁴⁶Uhr, <u>op. cit</u>., p. 69.
⁴⁷Baker, <u>op. cit</u>., pp. 8-9.
⁴⁸Blotzer, <u>et al.</u>, <u>op. cit</u>.

the ease of operation of modern day vehicles. Because of athletics and physical labor, men are probably better coordinated than females which may make a difference in quick manipulation of a vehicle.

From a psychological point of view, men are probably more accustomed to needing to make a quick rational decision and then acting upon it than females. Females, furthermore, are expected to react to situations in a more emotional manner than are males in this culture. Under stress it is the male rather than the female who is usually looked to for calm rational decision making.

This is not to say that females can not be trained to make appropriate responses. It does, in fact, appear that females do need more training than males. The suggestion can be made to devise some sort of training device for training all potential drivers to cope with snow and ice, heavy traffic, road defects, etc. Special emphasis should be placed then upon the training of female potential drivers. A device of this sort could have an appreciable effect in the prevention of accidents.

/There was also some indication that male drivers tended to exceed the speed limit and generally be traveling faster more frequently than female drivers when involved in an accident / The interpretation given to this result was in terms of cultural roles and driving confidence rather than in terms of differences between the sexes in driving abilities when exceeding the speed limit.

The practical implications of an interpretation stressing ability would be in terms of increased training for males in driving at speeds exceeding the legal limit. This does not seem at all relevant to the problem.

Rather, what appears to be needed is increased education focused on the hazards of excessive speed, particularly aimed at male drivers. Also, attempts should be made to alter the association between excessive speed and masculinity which has developed in some segments of this culture.

The fact does remain that males were found significantly more often having consumed alcohol before accidents and consistently were driving at higher rates of speed directly preceding accidents. Both of these factors are conducive to serious accidents. The data of this study contained only two categories of severity, fatal and nonfatal, and only a few of the entire sample of accidents contained a fatality. Despite this lack, a reasonable assumption to make is that males tended to have more severe accidents than females. In this way females were safer drivers. Without trying to minimize the need for improved driving on the part of women, if a choice had to be made as to which of the two seres was in greater need of being the target of a safety campaign, male drivers would undoubtedly get the nod.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Allen, Terrence M. "A Factor Analysis of Accident Records." <u>Highway Research Record</u>, No. 79, January, 1965, pp. 17 - 25.
- Allgaier, Earl. "Some Road-User Characteristics in the Traffic Problem." <u>Traffic Quarterly</u>, Vol. 4, 1950, pp. 59 - 77.
- Baker, J. Standard. "Research and Traffic Records." <u>Traf</u>fic Digest and Review, July, 1971, pp. 8 - 10.
- Baker, J. Standard. "What are the Causes of Traffic Accidents?" <u>Traffic Digest and Review</u>, October, 1961, pp. 11 - 17.
- Beach, Dayle. "Solving Knotty Accident Classification Problems." <u>Traffic Safety</u>, Vol. 71, August, 1971, pp. 15 - 38.
- Blotzer, Paul., Krumm, Richard L., Krus, Donald M., and Stark, Donald E. <u>Accident Causation - Pennsylvania</u> <u>Turnpike Joint Safety Research Group</u>. Harrisburg: Westinghouse Air Brake Co., 1954.
- Brody, L. <u>Personal Factors in Safe Operation of Motor Vehi</u>cles. New York: New York University, 1947.
- Campbell, B. J. "Driver Age and Sex Related to Accident Time and Type." <u>Traffic Safety Quarterly Research</u> <u>Review</u>, Vol. 10, 1966, pp. 36 - 43.
- Campbell, William G. Form and Style in Thesis Writing. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1967.
- Capelle, Donald G., et al. <u>An Introduction to Highway</u> <u>Transportation Engineering</u>., ed. Donald G. Capelle, Donald E. Cleveland, and Woodrow W. Rankin. Washington: Institute of Traffic Engineers, 1968.
- Goldstein, L. G. <u>Human Variables in Traffic Accidents</u>. Washington: National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council, 1962.
- Haddon, William., Suchman, Edward A., and Klein, David. <u>Accident Research Methods and Approaches</u>. New York: Harper and Row, 1964.

- "Highway Research News Briefs." <u>Highway Research News</u>, Vol. 31, Spring, 1968, pp. 8 - 9.
- Johnson, Charles F. "The Human Factor in Automobile Accidents." <u>Traffic Safety</u>, Vol. 72, March, 1972, pp. 13 - 38.
- Kreml, Franklin M. "The President's Task Force on Highway Safety." <u>Traffic Digest and Review</u>, Vol. 19, March, 1971, pp. 1 - 5.
- Lauer, A. R. "Age and Sex in Relation to Accidents." <u>Accident Research Methods and Approaches</u>, eds. William Haddon, Edward A. Suchman, and David Klein, pp. 130 - 138. New York: Harper and Row, 1964.
- Lauer, A. R. "Characteristics of the Driving Population with Respect to Age, Sex, Driving Habits, and Accident Involvement." <u>Iowa Academy of Science</u>, 1954 Proceedings, 361, pp. 89 - 98.
- Lauer, A. R., et al. <u>Structure and Characteristics of the</u> <u>Driving Population, A Study of Age and Sex in Rela-</u> <u>tion to Accident Susceptibility</u>. Ames, Iowa: Iowa State College, 1950.
- McFarland, Ross A., and Moore, Roland C. Youth and the <u>Automobile</u>. Washington: Golden Anniversary White House Conference on Children and Youth, 1960.
- McFarland, Ross A., Moore, Roland C., and Warren, A. Bertrand. <u>Human Variables in Motor Vehicle Acci-</u> <u>dents</u>. Boston: Harvard School of Public Health, 1955.
- Michigan Department of State Police. <u>Michigan Traffic</u> <u>Accident Facts: 1966</u>. Lansing: Michigan Department of State Police, 1967.
- Michigan Department of State Police. <u>Michigan Traffic</u> <u>Accident Facts: 1971</u>. Lansing: Michigan Department of State Police, 1972.
- Penn, Hugh S. "Causes and Characteristics of Single Car Accidents." <u>Highway Research Record</u>, No. 79, January, 1965, pp. 1 - 16.
- Presidents Committee for Traffic Safety. <u>Highway Safety</u> <u>Action Program</u>. Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1960.
- Recht, J. L. "The 1971 Traffic Story." Traffic Safety, Vol. 72, March, 1972, pp. 8 - 33.

- Schwenk, Lilliam C. "Age and Sex of Motor Vehicle Fatality Victims." <u>Iowa Academy of Science</u>, 1956 Proceedings, 63, pp. 615 - 619.
- Schwenk, Lilliam C. "Age and Sex in Relation to Fatal Traffic Accidents for 1957 - A Continuation Study." <u>Iowa Academy of Science</u>, 1958 Proceedings, 65, pp. 422 - 426.
- Siebrecht, E. "A Preliminary Report of Accident Characteristics of Iowa Drivers." <u>Iowa Academy of Science</u>, 1953 Proceedings, 60, pp. 552 - 557.
- Solomon, David. <u>Accidents on Main Rural Highways Related</u> <u>to Speed, Driver, and Vehicle</u>. U. S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Public Roads, Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1964.
- Swanson, Clifford O., Schwenk, Lilliam C., and Lauer, A. R. "Age and Fatal Motor Vehicle Accidents." <u>Highway</u> <u>Research Abstracts</u>, Synopsis Issue, Vol. 27, December, 1957, p. 69.
- Tarrants, William E. "Myths and Misconceptions in Traffic Safety." <u>Highway Research News</u>, Vol. 31, Spring, 1968, pp. 52 - 66.
- The 1964 California Driver Record Study, Part II. <u>Acci-</u> <u>dents, Traffic Citations, and Negligent Operator</u> <u>Count by Sex</u>. Sacramento: California Department of Motor Vehicles, March, 1965.
- The 1964 California Driver Record Study, Part V. <u>Driver</u> <u>Record by Age. Sex. and Marital Status</u>. Sacramento: California Department of Motor Vehicles, June, 1965.
- Uhr, Leonard. "Sex as a Determinant of Driving Skills: Women Drivers." Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 43, 1959, p. 35.
- Vanosdall, Frederick E. "An Introductory Study to Show the Relationships Between Michigan Drivers by Age, Ser, and Exposure in Miles of Motor Vehicle Operation." Unpublished Master's thesis, Michigan State University, 1966.
- Viteles, M. S., and Gardner, H. M. "Women Taxicab Drivers: Sex Differences in Proneness to Motor Vehicle Accidents." <u>Personnel Journal</u>, Vol. 7, 1929, pp. 349 -355.
- Winer, B. J. <u>Statistical Principals in Experimental</u> <u>Design</u>. New York: McGraw - Hill, 1962.

APPENDIX

APPENDIX A

CATEGORIES WITHIN BACH VARIABLE

Time Variables

Light Condition

Light Dark Dusk-dawn

Time of Day

| 12 | PM | - | 3 | AM |
|----|----|---|----|----|
| 3 | AM | - | 7 | AM |
| 7 | AM | - | 9 | AM |
| 9 | AM | - | 11 | AM |
| 11 | AM | - | 1 | PM |
| 1 | PM | • | 4 | PM |
| 4 | PM | • | 6 | PM |
| 6 | PM | • | 9 | PM |
| 9 | PM | - | 12 | PM |

Day of Week

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday

Road Characteristics

Highway Classification

U.S. State County City

Road Geometry

Straight Grade Curve Grade-curve

Road Surface

Paved Not Paved

Road Defects

Road Defect No Road Defect

Location

Intersection

Intersection Nonintersection

Locality

Urban Rural

Collision Characteristics

Directional Analysis

Entering From Angle Same Direction Opposite Direction Stopped Parked Pedestrian Single Vehicle

Fatal

Fatal Non-fatal

Vehicle Characteristics

Vehicle Type

Car Pickup Truck Other Vehicle Defects

One or More Vehicle Defects No Vehicle Defects

Vision Obscured

Vision Obscured Vision Not Obscured

Driver Characteristics

Ser

Female Male

Age

19 and Under 20 to 24 25 to 44 45 to 64 65 and Over

Experience

Less Than One Year One To Five Years More Than Five Years

Registration

Instate Outstate

Driver Behavior

Speed Violation

Speed Violation No Speed Violation

Right-of-way Violation

Right-of-way Violation No Right-of-way Violation

Following-too-close

Violation No Violation Passing Violation

Passing Violation No Passing Violation

Turning Violation

Turning Violation No Turning Violation

Traffic Control Violation

Traffic Control Violation No Traffic Control Violation

Violations Other Than Speeding or Drinking

Any Violation Other Than Speeding or Drinking No Violations Other Than Speeding or Drinking

Alcohol

Not Drinking Drinking Drunk

Sleep

Sleep No Sleep

Speed

 $\begin{array}{r} 0 = 10 \\ 11 = 20 \\ 21 = 30 \\ 31 = 40 \\ 41 = 50 \\ 51 = 60 \\ 61 = 70 \\ 71 \text{ and Over} \end{array}$

Weather Variables

Weather

Clear Rain Snow Fog Surface Condition

Dry Wet Snow

.

